
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 30 October 2017

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 2 November 2017

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Councillor M J Davis (Chairman) Councillor P Kelly
Councillor R S L Perfitt (Vice-Chairman) Councillor E J Lampkin
Councillor I D Armitt Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor A Bardoe Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J Burrell Councillor D J Mote
Councillor R M Currans Councillor D Page
Councillor D A Hammock Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor R J Wells
Councillor J Jones



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B 
Monday 30 October 2017

CABINET
Thursday 2 November 2017

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 September 
2017 (Pages 1 - 8)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 30 
October 2017 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Land at Stone Lodge - Disposal of Land for 8 Form Entry 
Secondary School and Update on Development Proposals 
(Pages 9 - 20)

SD (IS)

Key Decision

The disposal of part of the Stone Lodge site is of such significance to 
the locality that the Managing Director is of the opinion that it should 
be treated as a key decision.



Summary:

To update Members on the Secretary of State for the 
Department of Communities and Local Government revised 
proposals to proceed with the purchase of part of the land at 
Stone Lodge for an 8 form entry secondary school, to seek 
authority to agree the revised terms and to update Members 
on the other development proposals.

Recommendations:

1. That, having considered the Council’s Consultant Valuer’s 
report in confidential Appendix A, no less than 7.7 acres of 
land at Stone Lodge (as shown on the Master Plan at 
Appendix B) be disposed of to the Secretary of State for the 
Department of Communities and Local Government for an 8 
form entry secondary school, at potentially less than best 
consideration, on the terms set out in confidential Appendix A.

2. That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to 
agree the exact size of the land take for the 8 form entry 
secondary school and, if necessary, make amendment(s) to 
the Master Plan.

3. That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Head of 
Legal Services, be authorised to finalise the Heads of Terms 
and complete the transaction.

4. That a report on the appropriation of the land at Stone Lodge 
for planning purposes be presented to a future Cabinet 
meeting.

5. That Members receive a presentation on the development 
proposals at Stone Lodge.

6. That the Managing Director be authorised to submit a hybrid 
planning application for the site, as set out in para 3.17 of the 
report, comprising an outline application for the site as a whole 
and incorporating a detailed application for a rugby club and 
associated playing pitches. 

8. Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Contract (Pages 21 - 26) SD (ES)
Summary:

1. This is a Key Decision as the Council:

a) will incur expenditure or savings beyond the threshold 
agreed by the Council; and



b) the proposal to tender for the refuse collection and street 
cleansing contract is significant in terms of its effects on 
communities living or working in an area of the Borough 
comprising two or more wards.

2. To seek approval to the retendering of the Council’s contract 
for refuse collection and street cleansing services post June 
2019.

Recommendations:

1. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be authorised to 
retender the Council’s contract for refuse collection and street 
cleansing services.

2. That, following completion of the procurement process, a 
further report be submitted seeking approval to award the new 
contract. 

9. Response to Government Consultation: "Planning for the Right 
Homes in the Right Places" (Pages 27 - 44)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This report is produced in response to the government’s 
consultation on the document ‘Planning for the Right Homes in 
the Right Places’ (September 2017). 

2. The main proposals: a new method for calculating local 
housing figures, and mandatory Statement(s) of Common 
Ground between authorities, have potentially significant 
implications for the Council and these are set out in the report.

3. The recommended response to the consultation questions is 
set out at Appendix A.

Recommendations:

1. That Appendix A to the report be submitted to government as 
the Council’s official response to the consultation.

2. That Cabinet note the proposed introduction in 2018 of 
mandatory Statement(s) of Common Ground, to be negotiated 
with other Local Planning Authorities (see paragraphs 4.10-
4.19 of the report). 



B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

10. Acceptance of Tender - Estate Cleaning and Window Cleaning 
Contract (Pages 45 - 48)

SD (ES)

Summary:

To advise Members of the outcome of the tender for the 
Housing Estate Cleaning & Window Cleaning Contract to 
deliver an estate cleaning and window cleaning service to the 
Council’s housing stock and to seek approval to enter into a 
contract with the successful tenderer.

Recommendation:

That subject to the completion of the consultation in relation to 
s20 Landlord & Tenant Act 1985, and the OJEU standstill 
period that the Housing Estate and Window Cleaning Contract 
be awarded to ‘Company A’, referred to in Appendix A to the 
report, in the exempt part of the agenda for a period of 3 years 
from 01/01/2018, with the option to extend the contract for a 
further two years. 

C - Items for Information, Noting, Endorsing

11. 100% Business Rates Retention Pilot 2018/19 (Pages 49 - 52) SD (IS)
Summary:

The Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) has invited local authorities to participate in a pilot of 
100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/19. The local 
authorities in Kent have worked together to develop a Kent 
Pilot proposal. This report asks Members to note that this pilot 
proposal has now been submitted which includes Dartford 
Borough Council.

Recommendation:

That Members note that a proposal has been submitted to the 
Department for Communities and Local Government, to 
include Dartford Borough Council’s participation in the Kent 
wide 100% Business Rates Retention pilot for 2018/19. 

12. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18 (Pages 53 - 62) SD (IS)
Summary:

To update Members on financial performance against the 
2017/18 budget to date for the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account.



Recommendation:

That Members note that the overall level of spend and income 
for the year is expected to be within the parameters of the 
budget. 

13. Capital Budget Monitoring 2017/2018 (Pages 63 - 74) SD (IS)
Summary:

To inform Cabinet of the progress to date on the projects 
which make up the approved Capital Budget and to report the 
latest position on capital resources.

Recommendations:

1. Progress made to date on the 2017/18 Capital Programme, be 
noted.

2. That the current position on the Capital Prudential Indicators, 
as shown in Appendix C, be noted. 

14. Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2017/2018 (Pages 75 - 
88)

SD (IS)

Summary:

1. To inform Cabinet of the investment performance of the 
Council’s internally and externally managed funds to 30 
September 2017.

2. To update the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 
September 2017.

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet notes the investment performance of the 
Council’s funds. 

2. That Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s 
Treasury Indicators. 



15. Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: 
Appointment of a New Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet 
Advisory Panel B and Appointments to the Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust Stakeholder Council (Pages 89 - 96)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of 
Standing Order 38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to the 
appointment of a new Chairman and Vice-Chairman of 
Cabinet Advisory Panel B and appointments to the Dartford 
and Gravesham NHS Trust Stakeholder Council.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing 
Order 38(2)(a), relating to the appointment of a new Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet Advisory Panel B and 
appointments to the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 
Stakeholder Council. 

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information.

D - Items for Consideration in Private

Exempt Appendices

A. Land at Stone Lodge - Disposal of Land for 8 Form Entry 
Secondary School and Update on Development Proposals - 
Exempt Appendix A
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 97 
- 102)

SD (IS)

B. Acceptance of Tender - Estate Cleaning and Window Cleaning 
Contract - Exempt Appendix A
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 103 
- 104)

SD (ES)



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 7 September 2017 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

42. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

43. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

44. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 JULY 
2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 27 July 2017 be confirmed.

45. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

46. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 4 SEPTEMBER 2017 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 4 
September 2017 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

47. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

48. PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER 2017 - DARTFORD TOWN 
CENTRE 

This report sought authority to make a Public Spaces Protection Order 
(PSPO) pursuant to Part 4, Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014, to suppress the growing incidents of crime and anti-
social behaviour (ASB) occurring principally during the night-time economy 
hours in Dartford Town Centre. It also proposed that the existing Designated 
Public Place Protection Order be replaced by the PSPO.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 2017

2

The Chairman referred to the media interest that had been shown following 
the Council’s proposed introduction of the PSPO and the particular focus on 
the resourcing required to administer the powers effectively. He said that, 
although no additional police resources were being made available, the police 
were now factoring in PSPO work when revising their shift patterns, to allow 
for its proper enforcement. He also noted how the Council’s Community 
Safety Unit (CSU) staff also had the power to issue PSPO Fixed Penalty 
Notices (FPNs) and would be used to address issues that arise during the day 
(e.g. anti-social drinking).

The Chairman also noted how concern had been expressed that the powers 
would have the greatest impact on those considered to be most vulnerable 
but said that visitors to the Town Centre expected others to behave in a 
reasonable manner and did not wish to see, for example, drink/drug use or 
the anti-social use of bikes and cars. He said that careful thought had gone 
into the scope of the PSPO following deployment of the legislation in other 
Boroughs and noted how it focused on addressing criminal and anti-social 
behaviour.

The Strategic Director (External Services) described how, following Cabinet’s 
previous consideration of the proposed PSPO in January, it had been put out 
for public consultation. She said that 42 responses had been received, most 
of whom either lived in, or were frequent visitors to, the PSPO area. She then 
noted the overwhelming support that had been given for the PSPO’s 
introduction and drew Members’ attention to the written comments that had 
been made. She referred to a request for an increase in the area to be 
covered but said that the boundary had to be based on historical information 
and evidence of ASB. She said that, if Cabinet approved its implementation, 
there would be a 6 week period where it could be challenged in the High 
Court, and that if no challenge was received it would be able to be enforced. 
She said that CSU officers were looking forward to its introduction and the 
positive impacts that it would deliver.

The Chairman thought that the tackling of ASB during the day would lead to a 
likely reduction in night-time related bad behaviour and said that the 
introduction of the PSPO would discourage those intent on causing trouble 
from visiting Dartford. He also felt that once people know that action is being 
taken they are likely to be less tolerant of those who continue to act in an anti-
social manner. The Strategic Director (External Services) also highlighted the 
associated sign-posting work that is carried out to help those who are, for 
example, struggling with an addiction so that they can receive the required 
help and support that they need.

The Chairman then referred to the level of the fine and said that it wasn’t the 
amount that acted as the deterrent, it was the annoyance of having to follow 
the process through, which could ultimately end up with a court appearance if 
the fine is not paid.

Members noted the excuses that had been made for bad behaviour in the 
past, where it had been said that there was nothing for young people to do, 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 2017

3

and highlighted the increased number of leisure facilities and social activities 
that had been delivered and were now available. 

Members then asked about the signage required to warn people that they 
were in a PSPO area and the Strategic Director (External Services) replied 
that some of the format was prescribed but that it could also be tailored and 
made location specific if required.

In response to a question the Strategic Director (External Services) advised 
that Kingdom, the group responsible for issuing littering and dog fouling 
related FPNs, would not be empowered to issue PSPO related FPNs at 
present, but confirmed that imagery captured on their body cams may be 
used as evidence of a person’s behaviour for retrospective related 
interventions if applicable, such as Community Protection Notices.

Members referred to the training issue that had been raised by the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel and the need for CSU officers to avoid confrontation and 
dangerous situations when carrying out PSPO related work. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) said that CSU officers would never be asked to 
attend an incident that had already turned violent and noted how all CSU staff 
had been trained to assess the risk of a given situation and act accordingly.

Members described instances where young cyclists had been seen to act in 
ways which intimidated drivers and asked whether cars and bikes could be 
seized if it was found that they were being used in an anti-social way. The 
Strategic Director (External Services) replied that the police already had this 
power, and had used it in the Town Centre, but added that CSU officers would 
not be able to make such seizures. She also noted that the PSPO could only 
be enforced on those over 18 years of age and so a different approach was 
being taken to address and engage with younger people who commit ASB.

Members expressed their full support for the PSPO’s implementation and 
hoped that by addressing ASB a cleaner and safer Town Centre would be 
delivered. They also welcomed the number of consultation responses that 
indicated that people now felt safe during the day, although they did also note 
this to be less so during the evening and at night, but hoped that the policing 
that would be carried out to enforce the PSPO would help to address this. 
They also suggested that visitors to the Town Centre be advised that 
establishments that are members of the Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) 
scheme may be used as points of refuge if a person feels threatened.

The Chairman noted the happy night-time atmosphere that had been created 
and experienced by those attending the Central Park Cinema Nights and said 
that a busy Town Centre makes people feel safer and discourages those who 
are intent on causing trouble.

In response to further questions the Chairman confirmed that the area 
covered could only be changed if there was sufficient evidence of ASB 
occurring in the new area. He said that he did not anticipate there being 
problems in the urban areas where new development was taking place as 
ASB usually takes place near to pubs/clubs and on waste ground. He also felt 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 2017

4

that any displaced ASB activity would move outside of the borough because 
of the approach being taken by Dartford.

In relation to ASB around the War Memorial the Chairman said that the main 
problem related to the use of the surrounding gardens as a toilet by those who 
choose to use the area for drinking rather than the memorial itself being 
targeted. He felt this to be extremely offensive and not conducive to the 
respectful atmosphere that people would expect to experience. He said that 
those who believe in a street drinking culture should go to a place where this 
is considered acceptable.

The Chairman also confirmed that, as for other offences that currently result in 
fines being issued, e.g. littering, those that fail to pay a PSPO fine will be 
pursued and prosecuted through the courts. He said that he hoped that the 
resulting inconvenience experienced by the perpetrator would act to 
discourage them from committing future offences.

The Chairman added that he felt that Dartford was being well served by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Matthew Scott, who was providing helpful 
support for community groups.

RESOLVED:

1. That, on being satisfied that the anti-social behaviour activities detailed 
in paragraphs 3.7 and 3.8 of the report are having, or likely to have, a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality, are 
persistent or continuing in nature, are unreasonable and that on the 
basis that the consultation process, as outlined in Appendix D to the 
report, confirms local support for the making of the Public Spaces 
Protection Order, the Public Spaces Protection Order 2017 – Dartford 
Town Centre be made on terms set out in Appendix A to the report, to 
apply to specific areas of Dartford Town Centre, as shown on the Map 
at Appendix B to the report.

2. That the Strategic Director (External Services), in consultation with the 
Head of Legal Services, be authorised to undertake the statutory notice 
process for the making of the Order in accordance with the Anti-social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces 
Protection Orders) Regulations 2014.

3. That, having made the Public Spaces Protection Order 2017 – Dartford 
Town Centre, it not be enforced until the statutory 6 week period 
allowed for the Order to be challenged at the High Court has 
concluded.

4. That the fixed penalty notice fine be set at £100, with a 50% discount if 
paid within 10 days.  

5. That it be noted that the extant Designated Public Place Protection 
Order will expire on the making of the Public Spaces Protection Order.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 2017

5

49. PRIMARY AUTHORITY - SUPPORT FOR LOCAL BUSINESSES - 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH PARTNERSHIP 

This report updated Members on the national Primary Authority Scheme. The 
Environmental Health (EH) teams for Dartford and Sevenoaks came together 
in April 2012 to form the Environmental Health Partnership. This Partnership 
has the opportunity to create Primary Authority partnerships with businesses, 
initially in Kent, but potentially UK wide. The EH Partnership had partnered 
with and joined Kent County Council Trading Standards’ existing Primary 
Authority Partnerships and now wished to formalise and extend the 
arrangement.

The Strategic Director (External Services) referred to the positive impact that 
this arrangement can have for businesses and noted how they welcomed the 
support that can be provided. She also drew Members’ attention to the 
number of businesses nationally that were involved in such schemes and 
noted how it would be implemented at no cost to the Council. She also noted 
how the Council itself can act as a Primary Authority as well as working in 
partnership with Kent County Council Trading Services.

The Strategic Director (External Services) then asked that recommendation 
2.5 be amended to state that the associated fee be reviewed ‘annually’ rather 
than ‘annually each March’.

Members endorsed the report’s recommendations together with the requested 
change to recommendation 2.5.

RESOLVED:

1. That the operation of the national Primary Authority Scheme, as set out 
in the report, be noted.

2. That the provision of advice and support to businesses through an 
arrangement between the Environmental Health Partnership (as 
preferred Environmental Health advisors) and Kent County Council 
Trading Standards’ Primary Authority Partnerships, be agreed.

3. That the provision of bespoke advice and support services to 
businesses by the Council’s Environmental Health Services, pursuant 
to a formal Primary Authority Partnership (between the Council and the 
business), be endorsed.

4. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated 
authority, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, to enter a 
formal agreement with Kent County Council Trading Standards.

5. That the fee to be charged respectively to businesses, where Dartford 
Borough Council is the Primary Authority and to Kent County Council 
Trading Standards, where the Environmental Health Partnership is 
providing professional advice to Kent County Council Trading 
Standards’ Primary Authority Partnership, be set at £70 +VAT per hour. 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 2017

6

This is a figure derived from an average team officer salary figure plus 
standard overhead costs. (To be reviewed annually).

50. DISCRETIONARY LOCAL BUSINESS RATES RELIEF SCHEME 

This report asked Cabinet to approve Dartford’s Discretionary Local Business 
Rates Relief Scheme.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed Discretionary Local Business Rates Relief scheme for 
2017/18 to 2020/21 be approved, subject to an annual review process.

51. MODERN SLAVERY ACT 2015 

This report informed Members of the obligations of the Modern Slavery Act 
2015 and sought Members’ endorsement of a Modern Anti-Slavery & Human 
Trafficking Statement setting out the steps the Council has taken to ensure 
human trafficking and slavery does not occur within the organisation or its 
supply chains.

The Strategic Director (External Services) said that this Statement had been 
prepared in order to show that the Council in no way condoned instances of 
modern slavery and had taken steps to ensure that it did not occur in the 
Council’s sphere of activities within its supply chains. She noted how Kent’s 
geographic location, the types of work that are supported, and the way that it 
acts as a traffic corridor between Europe and London meant that it was 
possible that modern slavery related crimes were being committed in Dartford 
but said that officers receive training to recognise the signs so that suspected 
cases of modern slavery can be investigated.

Members fully supported the Council’s approach and referred to recent court 
cases where the abuse of those who had been enticed into the country under 
false pretences had been exposed. They agreed that it was important for the 
Council to remain aware of this practise and for it to take action in situations 
where modern slavery is suspected.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed Modern Anti-Slavery & Human Trafficking Statement, 
attached at Appendix B to the report, be endorsed and approved for 
publication on the Council’s website.

52. UPDATE ON SCHEME OF DELEGATIONS TO OFFICERS 

This report updated Members on the Scheme of Delegations to Officers and 
recommended the continued delegation of functions in accordance with the 
Preamble to the Scheme of Delegations to Officers.

The Chairman referred to the governance concerns that had been voiced at 
the Cabinet Advisory Panel and the reassurance that had been given that 



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 2017

7

decisions and grants are never agreed in consultation with Lead Members. He 
then described how Lead Members provide support for Cabinet Members but 
have no involvement when decisions are made.

The Managing Director also noted how often both the Leader and the Cabinet 
portfolio holder are asked to give their approval before a grant is awarded.

The Chairman then described how the Grants related delegation allowed the 
Council to provide support to external groups, which enabled them to deliver 
events for the community in ways that the Council lacked the skills to do. He 
also noted that the delegation, as currently worded, did not include the ‘Club 
Together’ award scheme, which enabled the Council to provide support for 
groups which are not uniformed or youth specific (e.g. bowls clubs or 
retirement associations). For this reason it was proposed that the specific 
reference to ‘Salute to Youth applications’ in Grants delegation 1(a) be 
changed to ‘grant applications’ so that all current and future grant schemes 
are catered for within the delegation.

Members supported this change and the other recommendations in the report.

RESOLVED:

1. That Cabinet in pursuance of powers under Sections 14(3)(b) & (5) of 
the Local Government Act 2000 and all other powers enabling, 
continues to delegate to the Managing Director, to the extent of its 
respective powers, the Cabinet functions referred to in the Preamble to 
the Scheme of Delegations to Officers, at Appendix A to the report.

2. That the Sub-delegations at Appendix B to the report, together with the 
agreed amendment to the ‘Grants’ delegation, be noted.

53. OMBUDSMAN - ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER 2017 

This report asked Members to receive and note the Ombudsman’s Annual 
Review Letter 2017.

Members welcomed the Ombudsman’s letter and congratulated officers on 
the low number of referrals that had been made given the many thousands of 
serious and complex transactions that the Council deals with each year. They 
also noted the fact that only three had been fully investigated, of which two 
had been upheld, and, given that complaints are inevitable, thought this to 
have been commendable.

In response to a question it was confirmed that the Ombudsman also 
publishes an annual high level review of all complaints received nationwide, 
and it was suggested that the types of complaint being received, and mistakes 
being made by other authorities, could be used when reviewing our own 
policies and procedures.



CABINET
THURSDAY 7 SEPTEMBER 2017

8

RESOLVED:

That the Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter 2017, at Appendix A to the 
report and the corresponding data tables for the Council, at Appendices B and 
C to the report, be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.06 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

LAND AT STONE LODGE – DISPOSAL OF LAND FOR 8 FORM 
ENTRY SECONDARY SCHOOL & UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENT 
PROPOSALS

Ward: Stone

Key Decision

The disposal of part of the Stone Lodge site is of such significance to the 
locality that the Managing Director is of the opinion that it should be treated as a 
key decision.

1. Summary

1.1 To update Members on the Secretary of State for the Department of Communities 
and Local Government revised proposals to proceed with the purchase of part of 
the land at Stone Lodge for an 8 form entry secondary school, to seek authority to 
agree the revised terms and to update Members on the other development 
proposals.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That, having considered the Council’s Consultant Valuer’s report in confidential 
Appendix A, no less than 7.7 acres of land at Stone Lodge (as shown on the Master 
Plan at Appendix B) be disposed of to the Secretary of State for the Department of 
Communities and Local Government for an 8 form entry secondary school, at 
potentially less than best consideration, on the terms set out in confidential Appendix 
A.

2.2 That the Managing Director be granted delegated authority to agree the exact size of 
the land take for the 8 form entry secondary school and, if necessary, make 
amendment(s) to the Master Plan.

2.3 That the Managing Director, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, be 
authorised to finalise the Heads of Terms and complete the transaction.

2.4 That a report on the appropriation of the land at Stone Lodge for planning purposes 
be presented to a future Cabinet meeting.

2.5 That Members receive a presentation on the development proposals at Stone 
Lodge.

2.6 That the Managing Director be authorised to submit a hybrid planning application for 
the site, as set out in para 3.17 of the report, comprising an outline application for the 
site as a whole and incorporating a detailed application for a rugby club and 
associated playing pitches.



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 On 22 October 2015 [Min. No.58], Cabinet agreed to declare the land at Stone 
Lodge surplus to requirements and granted delegated authority to the 
Managing Director in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman to negotiate and 
finalise the details of the development scheme(s), including the financial 
arrangements of the proposed disposal.

3.2 On 8 December 2016 [Min.No.81], Members received a report on the Secretary 
of State for the Department of Communities and Local Government (SoS’s) 
intention to purchase 16.8 acres of land at Stone Lodge for an 8 form entry 
secondary school. Members agreed the terms of disposal and granted to the 
Managing Director, delegated authority to conclude the transaction.

3.3 The SoS has since changed its position on the acreage required for the 8 form 
entry secondary school and is now proposing the purchase of 7.7 acres of land. 
The revised negotiations are being undertaken by the Education & Skills 
Funding Agency (ESFA) on behalf of the SoS. 

3.4 Under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the 
power to dispose of land ‘in any manner it sees fit’ for the ‘best price 
reasonably obtainable’.  However in practice, it is still incumbent on the Council 
to explore how to achieve its development aims, whilst still complying with its 
statutory fiduciary duty under Section 123.

Section 123 imposes a duty on the Council to achieve a particular outcome 
(namely the best price reasonably obtainable): it is not a duty to conduct a 
particular process (e.g. to have regard to particular factors).

3.5 The land at Stone Lodge is a property asset not held for long term strategic 
purposes.  The disposal of the site would enable the Council to realise a 
significant capital receipt for other key initiatives.

3.6 The site has numerous constraints, which include three power lines, nine 
pylons, a buried Esso oil pipeline, medium and low pressure gas pipelines and 
land contamination created by domestic waste infill. All of these factors are 
likely to have an adverse effect on land value.

3.7 The ESFA’s offer to the Council is as detailed in confidential Appendix A to the 
report.  The offer is considered to potentially be at ‘undervalue’. 

The proposed land take for the 8 form entry secondary school site is 7.7.acres 
as shown at Appendix B to the report.

3.8 The sale price itself still needs to comply with normal and prudent commercial 
practices, including obtaining the view of a professionally qualified valuer.

‘Best consideration’ means achieving maximum ‘value’ from the disposal, not 
necessarily just maximum price.  Before disposing of any interest in land for a 
price which may be less than the best consideration reasonably obtainable, the 



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Consultant Valuer has to ensure that a realistic valuation of that interest is 
obtained, following the advice provided in the Technical Appendix to Circular 
06/2003. 

(a) The Council’s Consultant Valuer’s report is set out in confidential Appendix 
A, along with an outline of the Heads of Terms provisionally agreed with the 
ESFA (on behalf of the SoS), subject to internal approval of the ESFA, and  
the Council.

(b) The Consultant Valuer’s report identifies that, given the circumstances 
surrounding the site, including a lack of directly comparable transactions 
from which to refer to and to the particular terms agreed in this instance, it is 
appropriate to adopt a range of values that might apply that fully reflects the 
inherent uncertainty that exists in a valuation of this nature. It is the 
Consultant Valuer’s opinion that the financial offer received from the ESFA 
is potentially below the range of values that would be considered 
appropriate given normal circumstances. However, there are other elements 
of the offer received from the ESFA which should be considered when 
assessing the overall ‘value’ of the offer:

(c) One significant attraction of the ESFA bid is that completion is expected to 
take place shortly after outline planning consent is granted and the 
‘appropriation for planning purposes’ process is completed.  It is usually the 
case that, where terms have been agreed conditional upon the grant of 
planning permission, this is on the grant of detailed planning consent and 
not outline consent.  It could, potentially, take a significant period of time for 
detailed consent to be obtained, particularly as it is likely to be subject to a 
number of conditions for a new school project of the size and scale 
proposed.  The relative certainty of achieving a timely completion of the 
sale, i.e. upon the grant of outline consent and appropriation of the land for 
planning purposes (see para. 3.12 below) makes the offer from the ESFA 
extremely attractive from the Council’s position. It is impossible to 
accurately quantify this benefit in valuation terms, however it is the 
Consultant Valuer’s opinion that, in the wider market, landowners would 
ordinarily be prepared to accept a ‘discount’ in the sale price to reflect an 
earlier completion that is not subject to detailed approval, than might 
otherwise be the case.

(d) One of the terms agreed relates to a restrictive covenant to use the land for 
education/recreational purposes only. 

A ‘covenant’ is simply a promise made in a deed.  Land may be burdened 
by covenants which affect its use in some way, or may have the benefit of 
covenants which give the owner some control over what is done on its 
neighbouring land.  Covenants can therefore be very important to both the 
burdened and the benefiting land and may have a significant impact on land 
value, as in this case, the covenant preventing use other than for 
educational/recreational purposes may reduce the value of the burdened 
land but increase the value of the land which benefits from the covenant (as 
there is control over what can be done next door).



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

As the covenant is for the benefit of the Council’s adjoining and retained 
landholding, it is the Head of Legal Services opinion that a restrictive 
covenant of this type would be difficult to challenge.  

(e) The other ‘value’ benefits of the proposed sale are set out in 3. 11 below.

3.9 The return from any disposal is to be maximised unless there are over-riding 
factors that take precedence over the receipt of capital.

3.10 The General Disposal Consent 2003 permits the Council to dispose of land at 
less than its market value, without the need to seek specific permission from 
the Secretary of State, provided that:

 the purpose for which the land is to be transferred is likely to contribute 
to the ‘promotion or improvement’ of the economic, social, or 
environmental well-being of the area; and

 the difference between the market value of the land and the actual price 
paid for the disposal (if any), is not more than £2,000,000.

The General Consent has been issued to provide local authorities autonomy to 
carry out their statutory duties and functions and to fulfil such other objectives 
as they consider to be necessary or desirable.  The General Consent does not 
require the Council to undertake a tendering process i.e. to market test a 
disposal.  However, when disposing of land at an under-value, the Council 
remains aware of the need to fulfil its fiduciary duty in a way which is 
accountable to local people.  The Council will not divest itself of valuable public 
assets, unless it is satisfied that the circumstances warrant such action.

Therefore, when considering the disposal of land at undervalue, Members 
should be mindful of the Council’s general fiduciary duties which need to be 
considered as a separate issue, regardless of whether the transaction falls 
within the strict terms of the General Consent.

3.11 In justifying a disposal of land at under-value, the Council will have regard to 
the following:

 what community benefits will be realised by the disposal;
 how the interests of local people will be better served by the disposal;
 the financial viability of the Council’s plans for the land;
 the State Aid implications of the disposal;
 the Council’s future plans for the land;
 the market value of the land and the difference between that and the 

proposed disposal value.



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Each of these points is addressed as follows:

(a) Community benefits and the interests of local people  

The Council has regard to its Corporate Plan 2013 - 2016 which sets out the 
Council’s vision to make Dartford ‘the place of quality and choice, a place 
where people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time’.

The principal components of the Corporate Plan’s vision relating to ‘the 
promotion or improvement’ of the economic, social, or environmental well-being 
of the area’ will be strong communities, a high quality natural and built 
environment and a prosperous local economy.

New development, an increase in the local birth rate and inward migration in 
the Borough are the key factors driving demand for a secondary school.  A new 
secondary school would support new communities setting down roots in the 
area and existing communities.

The consultation on the Stone Lodge Development Brief (23 July 2015) 
generated a very wide range of ideas from local people and organisations with 
suggestions put forward to include educational or children orientated uses as 
well as, specifically, a school.  Kent County Council (as education authority), in 
particular, expressed an interest in working with the Council to provide a 
secondary school on the site.  Additionally, KCC stated that it would be keen to 
explore the establishment of a school with a sports focus, with potential for the 
sharing of the sports facilities with the wider community. KCC is acting as a 
‘facilitator’ between the Council and the ESFA.

Having carefully considered the consultation responses to the Development 
Brief, Cabinet reconfirmed its determination that a significant proportion of the 
site be put to uses of community value rather than commercial development. It 
consequently resolved that a very high proportion of the Stone Lodge site – a 
minimum of 75% - be reserved for leisure, recreation and community uses Min. 
No.58 -22 October 2015].  The disposal of part of the land for the school, 
alongside the proposed leisure and recreational uses (see para 3.15) will 
ensure that this resolution is put into effect.

(b) Core Strategy Policy - Policy CS14 requires that sites of 20ha or more 
contribute at least 30% of the total site area to open space.  The emerging 
proposals for the Stone Lodge site as a whole will address this requirement.

Policy CS22 identifies this site for sport and recreational uses and one where 
centres of excellence for sport and recreational facilities would be encouraged.  
The intention to explore a sports focus for the school will address this element 
of the policy. The policy also states that where sport/recreational proposals on 
the Stone Lodge site are not in themselves financially viable, the Council will 
consider non-sporting development on part of the site to enable this provision.  
In this instance, the sale will generate a capital receipt which can be applied to 
enable viable planned leisure and community use on the site.  The proposal to 



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

sell the land at under-value will not undermine the financial viability of the 
overall plans for the site.  

(c) State Aid - all land disposals need to comply with the European Commission's 
State Aid rules  When disposing of land ‘at less than best consideration’, 
depending on the nature of the transaction, the Council may be ‘subsidising’ 
the purchaser.  Where this occurs, the Council must ensure that the nature and 
amount of subsidy complies with the State Aid rules, particularly if there is no 
element of competition in the disposal process.  Failure to comply with the rules 
means that the aid is unlawful, and may result in the benefit, with interest, being 
recovered by the Member State (the UK) from the recipient.

It is possible that the terms agreed may amount to a 'subsidy’ to the SoS. 
However, for the reasons set out in paras.3.6 and 3.8 above, it is considered 
that any subsidy that may exist, complies with the State Aid rules.

(d) Market value of the land - The Consultant Valuer’s report in confidential 
Appendix A concludes that the financial offer received from the ESFA is, in the 
worst case scenario, below the level that might otherwise be anticipated if the 
site was offered for sale on the open market. However, given the other terms 
agreed, namely that the sale will only be conditional upon appropriation for 
planning and the grant of outline planning permission, and that the use of the 
land is to be restricted to education/recreational purposes only, it is entirely 
possible that the price achieved falls within an acceptable range that reflects 
market value as defined by the RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2017, 
considering the inherent uncertainty that must exist with a valuation of this 
nature and circumstance. In any event, it is considered that any ‘shortfall’ from 
market value is less than £2 million.

3.12 As the disposal to the SoS is proposed to be at an ‘under-value’ i.e. less than 
best consideration, other than by way of short term lease (less than 7 years), 
the Consultant’s Valuer’s report (in accordance with the Technical Appendix to 
the General Disposal Consent 2003) must be submitted to Cabinet for 
consideration.

3.13 As the Stone Lodge site consists of or forms part of an open space, on or 
around 5-12 November 2015, the Council advertised the proposed disposal of 
land in a local newspaper for two consecutive weeks. No objections were 
received.  There is no statutory requirement to re-advertise.

3.14 Appropriation of land for planning purposes

1. The land at Stone Lodge was acquired by the Council from the Secretary of 
State for Social Services pursuant to a conveyance dated 25 March 1972.  
Clause 2 of the conveyance included the following covenants by the Council, 
intended to benefit adjoining land which was then being retained by the 
Secretary of State:

a. not without the prior consent of the Vendor such consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld to use the land hereby conveyed other than for the 



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

purposes for which the local authority have power to acquire lay out and 
provide suitable buildings and use of land contained in the Physical 
Training and Recreations Act 1937;

b. not to erect any building or structure of any kind on the land hereby 
conveyed without the prior consent in writing of the Vendor such consent 
not to be unreasonably withheld;

c. to erect and forever after to maintain a 6 feet chain link fence on all 
boundaries separating the property hereby conveyed from the said Stone 
House Hospital Farmhouse Farm Bungalow and two staff houses which are 
retained by the Vendor with a 3 feet opening in such fence to allow access 
to the said Stone House Hospital Farmhouse through the farmyard from 
London Road Stone.

2. By a deed dated 16 March 1993 made between the Secretary of State for 
Health and the Council, the covenants shown as a. and b. above were 
expressed to be released.  However, at the time of the purported release, the 
Secretary of State no longer owned the adjoining land which benefits from the 
covenants.  That land has been developed for housing and is now owned by a 
number of individual home owners.  

3. The Council’s proposals for the development of the site for a school, a rugby 
club, potentially other leisure or recreational uses and housing, would, in so far 
as the covenants remain enforceable, entail a breach of them.

4. The ESFA on behalf of the SoS as prospective purchaser of part of the site for 
the development of the new 8 form entry secondary school has raised the 
existence of the covenants as a concern and wishes to see them addressed.

5. Local authorities frequently use powers to appropriate land from one statutory 
purpose to another. One such instance is where land owned by a local authority 
is appropriated for planning purposes (Section 246(1) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to include land which has been acquired under sections 226 
or 227 of the 1990 Act), when in the course of being prepared for sale and 
development with a view to effectively overriding private rights, subject of 
course to payment of compensation 

‘Planning purposes’ means an acquisition (or appropriation) which will facilitate 
the carrying out of development, re-development or improvement which is likely 
to contribute to the economic, social or environmental well-being of the area, or 
which is required in the interests of the proper planning of the area in which the 
land is situated.

Provided that land is validly appropriated for planning purposes, Section 203 of 
the Housing and Planning Act of 2016 may be engaged. Private rights are 
effectively overridden and converted into a claim for compensation. This has a 
two-fold benefit for the Council (or a purchaser from the Council). Firstly, the 
level of compensation for interference with rights or breach of restrictive 
covenant is assessed on the basis of the loss in value of the claimant's land as 
a consequence of the interference or breach of covenant rather than a claim for 



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

equitable damages and secondly, a claimant cannot secure an injunction, their 
only remedy is a claim for compensation.

The appropriation procedure is subject to compliance with the detailed 
requirements of the legislation and the Council being satisfied that any 
interference with third party rights would be proportionate and justified by the 
public interest in enabling the development to proceed. As such, appropriation 
of land for planning purposes is very useful, but it is critical that the 
appropriation is validly made, otherwise the operation of Section 203 will not be 
triggered.

A further report on appropriation of the land for planning purposes will be 
presented to Cabinet in the New Year.

3.15 Other development proposals

A comprehensive masterplan is being prepared for the Stone Lodge site as a 
whole, with the school forming part of this overall plan.  It is proposed that the 
site will comprise of the school and associated outdoor space, a rugby facility, a 
significant element of open space and a small element of housing in two 
separate parcels.  This arrangement of uses will ensure that both the Core 
Strategy policy requirements and the Cabinet resolution of 22 October 2015 are 
met.

A major component of the proposals is the construction of a new rugby facility 
on the north-west corner of the site, completing the ‘sports hub’ of rugby, judo 
and bowls. This will consist of a new club house that includes local community 
space in the form of a lettable function room, changing rooms and ancillary 
spaces. The initial construction will include provision of one all-weather, floodlit 
pitch with space for a second pitch (currently precluded due to the existence of 
the overhead power lines), access and car parking, services infrastructure and 
perimeter fencing.

Design work is well under way with full details of the scheme to be incorporated 
into a hybrid planning application (see para 3.17 below) for the general site and 
commencement of construction of the rugby facility in spring 2018.

It is understood that subject to conclusion of the legalities on the school, the 
detailed design of this community facility will be quickly developed to enable 
opening of the school in autumn 2019.

Further work to design the layout and uses of the green space, its paths and 
facilities will be commissioned following public consultation on the overall 
masterplan. However, the initial proposals indicated on the Master Plan include 
paths for cycling and walking (linking into the relocated public right of way and 
future ‘green grid’ access), improved local car parking and provision of ‘trim 
trail’ or similar outdoors fitness equipment. As there are several ecologically 
sensitive areas on the site, this work will improve the ecological diversity and 
sustainability.



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

3.16 Public consultation

At the time of writing this report, a public exhibition is being planned.  Although 
exact dates have yet to be set, it is anticipated that the exhibition will take place 
after this meeting.  Members however, will receive a presentation at the 
meeting.

3.17 Hybrid planning application

Individual components of proposed uses on the site are moving forward at a 
different pace.  In order to prevent delay to elements of the overall plan which 
are of particular benefit to the community, the masterplan is being prepared 
with differing levels of detail for different parts of the site.  It will, however, seek 
to provide sufficient certainty for the earlier parts of the scheme to move 
forward within an overall context for the site, including the general arrangement 
of uses on the site, traffic and pedestrian routes and green spaces.  

Following the preparation and consultation on the masterplan, it is proposed to 
submit a hybrid planning application which will comprise detailed designs for 
the rugby facility and associated playing pitches and outline proposals for the 
school, open space and housing elements of the scheme.  The outline 
proposals will be brought forward through reserved matters’ applications as the 
details of the site components are developed.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of the 
Council’s communities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As discussed in the exempt Appendix to 
the report

Legal Implications As discussed in the body of the report.
Public Sector Equality Duty This will be addressed as relevant in the 

building design stages 
Crime & Disorder Duty N/A
Staffing Implications None
A administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment As discussed in the body of the report

6. Appendix

Appendix A (Confidential Appendix) – Consultant Valuer’s Report &Terms 
proposed by the Education Skills & Funding Agency (on behalf of the Secretary 
of State for the Department of Communities and Local Government)



CABINET 
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Appendix B – Master Plan showing inter alia, the proposed 8 Form Entry 
Secondary School Boundary 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Marie Kelly-Stone Legal Services 
& Valuation 
Services

N/A for main 
report
Applicable for 
Appendix - 
Standing Order 
46(1) (b) and 
Annex 1, 
paragraph 3 



6

6

7

7

8

8

8

9

9

1
0

1
0

10

1
0

1
1

11

11

11

11

1
1

12

12

12

1
2

1
3

13

1
3

13

1
4

14

14

14

15

1
5

1
5

1
5

1
6

1
6

1
6

1
6

1
7

1
7

1
7

18

1
8

1
8

19

19

1
9

1
9

1
9

1
9

1
9

2
0

2
0

20

2
0

20

2
0

20

2
1

2
1

21

21

2
1

2
1

22

22

22

2
2

2
2

2
2

2
2

23

23

2
3

23

2
3

24

24

2
4

24

2
4

2
5

2
5

25

25

25

25

25

2
5

26

26

26

2
6

2
6

2
6

26

2
7

2
7

27

2
7

27

27

2
7

2
8

2
8

28

2
8

28

28

2
8

2
9

29

29

2
9

2
9

2
9

29

30

30

30

3
0

3
0

3
0

30

31

31

3
1

3
1

3
1

31

3
1

3
2

3
2

32

32

32

3
2

3
3

3
3

3
3

33

33

33

34

3
4

34

34

3
4

34

34

34

35

35

35

3
5

35

35

3
5

3
6

36

36

36

3
6

3
7

3
7

3
7

38

London Road

P

Former Stone
House Hospital,

War Memorial and
cottages

London R
oad

St James
Lane Pit Site

Proposed
Rugby Club

(tbc)

School
(2.8Ha)

Residential
(1.9Ha)

Access to
Rugby Club

P

Access to

school and
housing

P

The Brent Primary
School and

S
t Johns R

oad

P

Residential
(1Ha)

Residential
access

Key

 39082-Lea85.dwgipescJuly 2017

Consultancy Support for
Outline Planning: Stone
Lodge, London Road,
Dartford, Kent

Proposed Block Plan

100 m0 m

@ A2ESC: 1:2500

Based upon the Ordnance Survey Map with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown Copyright. 100025870.

Key

 39082-Lea85.dwgipescJuly 2017

Consultancy Support for
Outline Planning: Stone
Lodge, London Road,
Dartford, Kent

100 m0 m

@ A2ESC: 1:2500

Key

Site boundary

Rugby Club boundary

St James Lane Pit Site

Proposed location for new Rugby clubhouse

Vehicular and pedestrian access

Pedestrian Access only

Existing Public Right of Way (PRoW)

Primary path (trafficable surface 3m wide)

Informal pedestrian mown grass paths

Ridge walk

Primary and secondary streets

Private lanes

     School site: 2.8 Ha

New residential development: total of 2.9 Ha

(87 Dwellings at 30 Dw/Ha; 130 Dwellings at

45Dw/Ha)

Stone Lodge Bio Valley Park

Existing trees

Contours

Car parkingP

Client

APPENDIX B





                             
CABINET

2 NOVEMBER 2017

REFUSE COLLECTION AND STREET CLEANSING CONTRACT 

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as the Council:

(a) will incur expenditure or savings beyond the threshold agreed by the 
Council; and

(b) the proposal to tender for the refuse collection and street cleansing 
contract is significant in terms of its effects on communities living 
or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more 
wards.

1.2 To seek approval to the retendering of the Council’s contract for refuse  
collection and street cleansing services post June 2019.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the Strategic Director (External Services) be authorised to retender the 
Council’s contract for refuse collection and street cleansing services.

2.2 That, following completion of the procurement process, a further report be 
submitted seeking approval to award the new contract.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The current contract for refuse collection and street cleaning includes 
the following services – refuse, recycling, garden, medical and bulky 
wastes collection, the supply and delivery of wheeled bins, street 
sweeping, litter picking, litter and dog bin emptying, flytipping clearance 
and market cleaning. The contract has an annual value of 
approximately £3million, was originally for 9 years but was extended by 
4 years in 2015, expiring on 30 June 2019. No further extension is 
permitted under the contract as this raises EU procurement 
implications. The incumbent contractor is Amey LG Ltd.  

3.2. The contract was extended to 2019 specifically to align with Tonbridge 
& Malling and Tunbridge Wells Councils retendering dates, whose 
contracts end respectively, on 28 February 2019 and 30 March 2019, 
to create the opportunity for a joint contract. It is intended that a joint 
procurement exercise is undertaken with Tonbridge & Malling and 
Tunbridge Wells Councils and that if successful, a joint contract is 
entered into. Working together with the two Councils is more likely to 
result in competitive prices being obtained through economies of scale 
rather than each authority contracting separately.

3.3. As a Waste Collection Authority (WCA), under the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, the Council has a duty to make adequate 



                             
CABINET

2 NOVEMBER 2017

arrangements for the collection of waste from domestic properties 
within the borough and as a Waste Disposal Authority (WDA), Kent 
County Council has a duty to make adequate arrangements for the 
recycling and disposal of the waste collected. The level of service 
provided however is a matter for local discretion and a wide variety of 
service models are provided across the country according to local 
circumstances.

3.4. As a Principal Litter Authority (PLA), also under the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, the Council has a duty to keep the adopted public 
highways, land in its ownership to which the public have access and 
other land for which it is responsible, clean as far as possible by 
making adequate arrangements to deal with litter and detritus. The 
level of service is again a matter for local discretion and is generally set 
according to perceptions of local needs. 

Moving forward under a new contract, the street cleaning specification 
will state how often areas are to be cleaned, how often litter and dog 
bins are to be emptied, and so on, and these frequencies will be as 
current, but will not state how the contractor is to achieve this as they 
are best placed to know the type and quantities of resource needed in 
terms of operatives, vehicles and equipment to achieve the required 
standards.

3.5. At present there is a general requirement imposed by the EU on the 
UK that by 2020, 50% of the domestic waste collected each year is to 
be recycled. It is likely that the EU’s targets will continue post Brexit 
and that in addition to the 2020 target, 60% of domestic waste will have 
to be recycled by 2060. Both WCAs and WDAs are expected to 
contribute to these targets. The average recycling rate across Kent in 
2016/17 was 44%, however the Council’s current recycling rate is 
some way short of this at 27%. It is unclear what the consequences (if 
any) there may be in future for under-performing WCAs.

3.6. The current collection contract (having been written in 2005) is 
outdated as recycling services, cleansing techniques, health and 
safety, legislation and technology have moved on significantly over 
time. The future cost of refuse and cleansing services is of concern 
because markets have not been tested for some time. Retendering is 
essential but carries the risk of increased cost and the potential for 
services having to be reduced to accommodate budgets.

3.7. In order to mitigate against these concerns, it is proposed that 
tendering will be carried out in conjunction with Tonbridge & Malling 
and Tunbridge Wells Councils, in order to achieve efficiencies and 
economies of scale. It is intended that tenderers will be required to 
price against two main service options – first, for the collection services 
as they currently are and second, for the Nominal Optimal Method 
(NOM) (see below). The street cleaning service will be the same for 
both waste collection service options.



                             
CABINET

2 NOVEMBER 2017

3.8. Current waste collection services comprise the weekly collection of 
refuse in green wheeled bins, the fortnightly collection of mixed 
recycling (paper, card, cans and plastic bottles, tubs and trays) in grey 
wheeled bins, the fortnightly collection of glass in black boxes, and the 
fortnightly collection of garden waste in brown wheeled bins for those 
residents who opt-in to the paid for service.

3.9. The NOM service is considered to be the service that gives the best 
balance of performance and cost. It is widely used across the UK and 
has been the subject of extensive study to confirm its benefits. The 
NOM service would consist of the weekly collection of food waste in a 
new container (possibly an orange and grey caddy), the fortnightly 
collection of refuse in green wheeled bins, the fortnightly collection of 
paper and card in grey wheeled bins, the fortnightly collection of glass, 
plastic bottles, tubs and trays and cans in black boxes, and the 
fortnightly collection of garden waste in brown wheeled bins for those 
residents who opt-in to the paid for service. The NOM service is 
approved by both the Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
affairs (DEFRA) and the Waste and Resources Action Programme 
(WRAP) as being consistent with their general aim of improving 
recycling performance.

3.10. If introduced, the NOM service would not be suitable for large blocks of 
flats that currently have communal arrangements for the collection of 
refuse and recycling. These properties would keep weekly refuse 
collection and would not be provided with the separate collection of 
food waste. About 6,000 of the borough’s 45,000 properties would be 
affected. Whilst individual residents would not be able to opt out of the 
NOM, it is possible that the NOM would not be suitable for some 
properties because of their circumstances, such as no or very limited 
outside space - these properties would keep weekly refuse collection 
and not be provided with separate food waste collection unless 
requested. It is anticipated that only 200 or so properties would be 
considered potentially exempt.

3.11. Current arrangements regarding assisted collections, and larger or 
smaller bins for different size families who meet relevant criteria, would 
continue. This, combined with the above exemption criteria, will ensure 
that the Council meets its Public Sector Equality Duty, by ensuring that, 
for example, the service does not discriminate against the disabled or 
elderly. 

3.12. Recycling performance is very unlikely to improve should the current 
level of service be retained for the next contract, however, if the NOM 
were to be adopted, based on evidence from councils that have made 
a similar change, it has been estimated that recycling performance will 
increase to around 45%.

3.13. It is believed that the collection cost of the NOM service will most 
probably be equal to or slightly higher than the current service, but the 
disposal cost will be considerably lower as a large amount of waste will 



                             
CABINET

2 NOVEMBER 2017

be moved from expensive to less costly disposal options (such as from 
being incinerated to being recycled or composted). It is anticipated that 
the NOM service will cost KCC over £1m less than the current service 
in disposal fees for Dartford alone and over £3m less for all three 
collection authorities in a full year after the service is fully deployed. 
KCC will enter into an Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) with each of the 
Councils that will guarantee that disposal savings are shared 50/50 
between it and the Councils, significantly benefitting the Council 
through reduced costs. Some of the money received from KCC could 
potentially be reinvested in services, such as street cleaning.

3.14. Should the NOM service be agreed it will require the purchase of food 
waste caddies for all suitable properties. It is anticipated that purchase 
and delivery of these to all suitable properties will cost around 
£250,000, which will have to be paid by the Council, but could be taken 
out of the savings, should sufficient savings arise in the first year of the 
contract.

3.15. The length of a refuse collection contract tends to match the expected 
life of the main refuse and recycling collection vehicles in order that the 
cost of these vehicles can be spread over as long a period as 
reasonably possible. It is therefore proposed that the next contract will 
be 8 years in length, with an option to extend for a further 8 years 
should this be considered desirable. Should the extension option be 
implemented, the future contractor would be required to provide an 
entirely new vehicle fleet for the second 8 year period. Amey’s current 
vehicles will mostly likely transfer to the new contractor for use in 
Dartford or elsewhere, as they will only be four years old when the 
current contract ends.

3.16. The new specification for refuse collection and street cleansing is 
currently being worked on but will be based on the best parts of the 
three Councils’ existing specifications and updated to embrace current 
thinking, practices and technology. The specification will indicate the 
level of service required, but will not dictate how the service is provided 
or with what resource, such as numbers and types of collection 
vehicles or levels of staffing, as the tenderers themselves are best 
placed to suggest what would work best. Tenderers will be encouraged 
to show innovation and particularly, use modern technology, such as 
in-cab reporting and vehicle CCTV, to provide an efficient and cost-
effective service for the three Councils. Reliability and good customer 
service will be emphasised.

3.17. Because of its value, the tender process will have to be carried out 
according to full EU tendering rules. It is planned that an OJEU notice 
will be published in December 2017 with completed tenders being 
returned in April 2018 and contract award being made in July 2018, 
with a start date of 1 July 2019 to give the successful contractor 
enough time to procure its new vehicle fleet, which could take 6 – 9 
months.



                             
CABINET

2 NOVEMBER 2017

3.18. Should the NOM service be agreed, it will not be possible or desirable 
for it to operate from the first day of the new contract as food waste 
caddies will have to be purchased and delivered, and residents will 
have to be fully advised of the service changes. It is likely that this 
phased introduction would take 3 to 6 months, so the NOM service 
would probably not be introduced until between October and December 
2019, which would mean that full savings and IAA payments from KCC 
would not be realised during the first year of the new contract.

3.19. It is intended that via a third “Big Bin Vote” (which will hopefully be 
carried out before Christmas 2017), residents will be invited to state 
their preference for the level of service they wish to receive after the 
current contract ends.

3.20. It is anticipated that whatever service is provided under the new 
contract, changes will be required over the term of the contract to 
accommodate, amongst other things, property growth. The 
specification/contract will provide for this. 

Property growth in particular has a major impact on the resource 
required to carry out bin collections and can have a major unbalancing 
effect on collection rounds, and the contractor’s ability to complete 
collections, if not managed properly. 

A collection round workload rebalancing exercise will shortly be 
required under the current contract and further such exercises will be 
needed over the term of the new contract. It is therefore very important 
that the resource provided under the new contract is able to increase to 
accommodate an increased workload. If considered beneficial over the 
life of the contract, it will also be possible to work towards aligning 
further aspects of the service between the three boroughs (Dartford, 
Tonbridge & Malling and Tunbridge Wells), such as the colours of bins. 

The future merger of the three Councils’ current client units could also 
be considered, as this would enable further efficiencies and savings to 
be made.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

There are three relevant Strategic Objectives stated in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan:

ET3 – Minimise the amount of waste going to landfill
ET4 – Ensure a high quality street scene
PS1 – Deliver high quality services, offering value for money and 
demonstrating a culture of continuous improvement.



                             
CABINET

2 NOVEMBER 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications As detailed in the body of the report.

Legal Implications As detailed in the body of the report.

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

It is not anticipated that the services 
provided under the new contract will have 
any adverse effects on any particular 
groups of residents because of its flexibility 
and provisions regarding assisted 
collections and other service adaptations.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment As detailed in the body of the report.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dave Thomas
(01322) 34273

Waste and 
Parks, 
Strategic 
(External)

N/A



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

CONSULTATION BY GOVERNMENT: “PLANNING FOR THE RIGHT 
HOMES IN THE RIGHT PLACES” 

1. Summary

1.1 This report is produced in response to the government’s consultation on the 
document ‘Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places’ (September 
2017). 

1.2 The main proposals: a new method for calculating local housing figures, and 
mandatory Statement(s) of Common Ground between authorities, have 
potentially significant implications for the Council and these are set out in the 
report.

1.3 The recommended response to the consultation questions is set out at 
Appendix A.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Appendix A to the report be submitted to government as the Council’s 
official response to the consultation.

2.2   That Cabinet note the proposed introduction in 2018 of mandatory 
Statement(s) of Common Ground, to be negotiated with other Local Planning 
Authorities (see paragraphs 4.10-4.19 of the report).

3. Outline of the Main Proposals  

3.1 This national consultation proposes to change how local planning authorities 
(LPAs) work individually, and in partnership, to increase overall levels of 
house building.  The consultation document ‘Planning for the right homes in 
the right places’ is available in the Members Room and online at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-
in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals.  It follows ‘Fixing our Broken 
Housing Market’ (the Housing White Paper) from February of this year.

3.2 The consultation covers two important changes in the preparation of Local 
Plans:

 it is proposed to introduce a new standardised methodology to set a 
housing need figure for each district

 detailed guidance is proposed for the preparation of ‘Statements of 
Common Ground’ to enable the redistribution of housing need across 
Housing Market Areas

This report focuses on these two issues as they have important implications 
for plan-making in the Borough.  The consultation also covers technical 
details on a wider range of matters including planning for a mix of housing 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-the-right-places-consultation-proposals


CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

needs, neighbourhood planning, viability assessment and planning fees.  
Responses to these other issues are covered in Appendix A of this report.

3.3 The proposed standardised methodology aims to achieve a level of national 
housing delivery sufficient to meet the level of need, which is assumed to be 
between 225,000 and 275,000 homes a year.  There are three steps in 
calculating the local figure:

a. Setting a baseline derived from projections of future growth in each district 
using official national data. 

b. Adjusting the baseline to take account of affordability in an area.  A house 
price to earnings ratio of four is taken as the baseline, with levels above 
this requiring a proportionate increase in housing delivery.

c. Capping the level of any increase to 40% of the current housing need 
figure set out in the Local Plan. 

3.4 The consultation proposals acknowledge that due to environmental or 
physical constraints, some local authorities may not be able to meet their 
housing needs in full.  In these circumstances, they will need to engage with 
other authorities through the ‘duty to co-operate’ to determine how the need 
can be accommodated and redistributed over a wider area.  The ‘duty to co-
operate’ whereby engagement with neighbouring authorities on cross-
boundary matters, such as strategic infrastructure and meeting housing 
need across the wider area, is already a statutory requirement which is 
tested at the Local Plan examination.  However, the government considers 
this is not working effectively because it is not a transparent process, it is 
tested too late in Plan preparation and there is no legal requirement to reach 
agreement on issues.

3.5 It is proposed to introduce a new requirement for the production of a 
‘statement of common ground’ over the housing market area. Local 
authorities are to have an outline statement in place within 6 months of 
publication of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (expected by 
Spring 2018), with a final statement in place within 12 months.  The 
statements are to be prepared by all local planning authorities irrespective of 
where they are in the plan-making process, so as to provide greater certainty 
and transparency earlier in the plan preparation process.   The outline 
statement will identify key strategic cross-boundary issues being addressed, 
including housing need for the area and proposals for meeting any shortfalls.  
The full statement is to include the process for agreeing the distribution of 
housing need and agreed distributions, as well as a record of whether 
agreements have or have not been reached on key strategic matters.  The 
‘duty to co-operate’ will continue to be tested at Local Plan examination, with 
the ‘Statement’ providing a road map for negotiations and the main evidence 
of compliance with ‘the duty’.

3.6 Where statements of common ground are not being produced or maintained, 
a range of sanctions may be imposed by government including a direction to 
amend plan-making timetables to align them with plan production in the 
wider area. It is also likely that a Local Plan submitted for examination in the 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

absence of a ‘Statement’, will be dismissed by a Planning Inspector as being 
unsound.

4. Implications of the Proposals

4.1 The standardised method for calculating housing need is strongly supported.  
However, there are elements of it which cause concern and these are 
covered in more detail below. The new method is to be applied immediately 
(once the revised NPPF is published) if a Local Plan is more than 5 years 
old, as is the case in Dartford.  There are transition arrangements where 
there is a more recent Local Plan. This means that the housing figure 
derived on this basis will underpin the Council’s annually updated ‘Five Year 
Housing Land Supply’ and deliverable sites capable of meeting the figure will 
need to be identified.  Failure to demonstrate a five year supply of sites 
which have reasonable certainty of delivery will undermine the Council’s 
position at appeal.  The housing figure will also inform the review of the 
Local Plan (Core Strategy), for which preparatory work is now starting. The 
level of growth over the 15 year Plan period will be determined on the basis 
of the new methodology, as amended by any cross-boundary agreements.

4.2 As part of the consultation, the government has published illustrative figures 
for each local planning authority, using the new methodology.  These would 
need to be verified and regularly updated.  They are shown below for 
Dartford and surrounding authorities:

          Table 1
LPA Illustrative housing 

need figure p.a
Current local 
housing need 
figure p.a 

Proportion of 
land nationally 
designated

Dartford 778 585 56%
Gravesham 508 363 78%
Sevenoaks 698 620 94%
Bexley 1,723 963 18%
Thurrock 1,158 1,381 72%

4.3 The Dartford figure incorporates 29% uplift from the demographic baseline 
for affordability.  The government data shows the proportion of each LPA’s 
land area covered by national designations such as Green Belt, National 
Parks etc. These do not inform the calculation but are shown to identify 
those authorities that are strongly constrained and where redistribution of 
housing need may be necessary.  It can be seen that Dartford and the 
surrounding authorities, with the exception of Bexley, are heavily 
constrained, with Dartford towards the lower end of the range.

4.4 To put the illustrative figure for Dartford in context:

 The housing delivery figure set out in the Core Strategy of ‘up to’ 17,300 
homes over the 20 year period 2006-2026 equates to an average of 865 
homes per annum. 

 The Core Strategy ‘up to’ figure, higher than the assessed housing need 
figure of 585 homes p.a., was accepted by the Council in recognition of 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

the large-scale regeneration opportunities in the Borough, with the 
majority of these having planning consent.

 The average number of housing completions since the start of the Plan 
period in 2006 is 584 p.a.

 Completion figures over the last 2 years have been 971 and 1162 homes 
p.a. respectively.

 On the basis of known sites and current developer intentions, it is 
projected that an average of approximately 1,200 homes p.a. will be built 
to the end of the Plan period, 2026.

 These recent and future projected higher delivery figures compensate for 
low delivery levels in the early stages of the Plan.  If delivery is in line 
with projections, the 17,300 figure will be met. 

4.5  On the face of it, therefore, the illustrative figure for Dartford does not appear 
to be overly challenging.  However, there are factors outside the Council’s 
control which could affect this and other authorities’ ability to deliver against 
their targets.  The Council has limited control over house-building.  
Experience has shown that even with planning consents in place, delivery 
can be slow.  The Housing White Paper recognised that the structure of the 
house-building industry causes difficulties in increasing housing supply, with 
larger developers dominating the industry and limited innovation in 
construction methods.  The consultation document provides no response to 
these issues and this could undermine the ability to achieve against the 
targets.

4.6 Whilst Dartford’s housing figure currently appears achievable, this figure 
could change.  The housing needs figure will need to be regularly updated at 
key points in plan preparation and when new national projections of 
demographic growth are made available. Looking forward, the Borough 
benefits from long-term regeneration locations such as Dartford town centre 
and Ebbsfleet that are expected to carry on building out post 2026. There is, 
though, uncertainty as to whether or not these and other currently identified 
sites would provide sufficient long-term capacity to continue to 
accommodate the proposed future housing level. This will need to be 
considered in detail in preparing the review of the Core Strategy leading to a 
new Local Plan for the Borough.

4.7 The demographic element of the methodology has the biggest influence on 
the final housing figure.  It is based on relatively short term demographic 
trends (five years) reflecting recent population changes due to natural 
changes (births and deaths) as well as people moving in to the Borough. 
This results in local authorities which have recently been ambitious in their 
plans, as has Dartford, having higher requirements in the future and this 
becomes self-perpetuating.  The demographic growth trend for Dartford will, 
therefore, increase at an above average rate. The formula appears to reward 
those areas that have been unambitious in the past, sending the wrong 
signals if increased growth is to be achieved across the board.

4.8 The affordability uplift of the housing calculation (currently a 29% uplift)  also 
has the potential to significantly increase Dartford’s housing figure in the 
future if house prices continue to rise relative to workplace incomes.  This 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

element of the methodology has been applied on the basis that increasing 
the amount of homes built will improve affordability. The consultation paper 
relies on two theoretical sources of evidence in support - this is considered 
to be an inadequate basis for a methodology which has such critical 
implications for local areas. The evidence on the ground in Dartford 
contradicts the theory, with increased housing delivery being accompanied 
by house price growth (see Appendix A, response to Question 1).  There is 
strong objection to this element of the proposals.  

4.9 The final stage in the setting of a housing figure is a cap on the increase for 
LPAs that have relatively low current Local Plan targets and where the new 
figure would result in a housing need figure increased by over 40%.  This is 
considered inequitable and rewards those authorities where Local Plans 
have not been as ambitious as required in the past, again at the expense of 
those places that have ‘done the right thing’.

Statements of Common Ground

4.10 There is particular uncertainty around the consequences of the proposals set 
out for Statements of Common Ground and how these may impact on plan 
preparation and the eventual housing target.

4.11 There are current legal requirements under the Duty to Cooperate, posing a 
potentially significant risk and resourcing factor in getting new Local Plans in 
place. The Council experienced this in relation to the Development Policies 
Plan, which was adopted in July. The Plan was only declared sound 
following extensive preparation of evidence demonstrating to the Planning 
Inspector that strategic retail matters (Bluewater impact) had been fully 
explored and addressed in working up the Plan with objecting LPAs and that 
the Council had acted reasonably.

4.12 The current proposals represent a step change in Duty to Co-operate 
requirements with a need to address the distribution of development across 
LPAs, so as to meet the new aggregate housing totals.  Whilst there is not 
an absolute imperative to reach agreement on housing numbers across a 
housing market area, a Local Plan is unlikely to progress to adoption without 
having done so. The proposals increase the risk of successfully taking an 
essential Local Plan through to adoption.

4.13 The cumulative implications of the government proposals for housing 
delivery can be seen from the figures at Table 1, paragraph 4.2 above. This 
set of adjoining authorities is unlikely to be seen as a housing market area; 
however, for the purposes of illustration, it shows that the housing need 
figure for this area has gone up by 24% from previous local assessments to 
nearly 5,000 homes a year.

4.14 The consultation notes that whilst some areas may not have enough room to 
meet local need due to constraints, neighbouring authorities may be able to 
take on the unmet need.  In Dartford’s case, although 56% of its area is 
designated land (Green Belt), this is lower than for the adjoining authorities 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

of Sevenoaks and Gravesham.  This fact is likely to be raised in any Duty to 
Cooperate discussions with the Borough. 

4.15 The Council has been proactive in setting out key aspects of productive 
cooperation in the Protocol for Action and Communication (approved by 
Cabinet December 2015). It has also engaged fully and positively in 
collaborative discussions, for example concerning Ebbsfleet, and over 
strategic infrastructure (Lower Thames Crossing, possible Crossrail 
1/Elizabeth Line extension).

4.16 This will have to be taken further to agreed formal Statements of Common 
Ground between parties. The Council will have to consider very carefully its 
approach to negotiating Statements, producing its new Local Plan, and 
responding to Local Plans being drafted elsewhere. The uncertainty around 
‘the Housing Market Area’ in this area (i.e. the complex geography of 
household movements between Kent and London) may mean that there are 
a number of options for determining the appropriate parties with which to 
enter into a Statement of Common Ground.

4.17 If agreements are to be reached on an authority ‘exporting’ housing numbers 
to a ‘receiving’ authority, clarity will be needed on a number of issues. This 
might include financial arrangements between the authorities, infrastructure 
funding matters, and Local Plan policies allowing suitable development 
management arrangements for relevant planning applications. The 
consultation offers no mention of mitigations, let alone specific “carrots”, for 
any receiving authority therefore these will have to be a focus of local 
negotiations.  The consultation is unclear whether recipient authorities might 
be penalised at appeal for under-delivery which relates to the ‘additional’ 
growth and clarification is sought on this matter (Appendix A, response to 
Question 7a). 

4.18 The government has not followed the advice of the expert group it set up to 
look at duty to co-operate issues that advised it would be helpful for 
government to confirm the geographic extent of local Housing Market Areas. 
This would remove substantial uncertainty and enable both clearer 
assessment of the scale of demand, and facilitate joint working between 
identified authorities. This solution is put forward in response to Question 7a.

4.19 In some places the geographic extent of Housing Market Areas - and 
therefore the basis for Duty to Cooperate negotiation – is fairly readily 
apparent. However in key areas where demand is greatest, particularly in 
London and the South East, the situation is much more complex. Longer 
distance house moves by households, and commutes by individuals cut 
across multiple administrative boundaries (both between Boroughs and 
across higher tier authorities e.g. Greater London and Kent/Essex, and 
unitary councils). In Dartford’s case, lying on the boundary of London and 
with strong migratory and commuting links, this will add to the difficulty of 
identifying the appropriate Housing Market Area and the complexity of 
negotiations.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

4.20 On a positive note, the consultation proposes a further 20% fee increase 
(over and above that to be implemented for all authorities) for those 
authorities that are delivering homes at or above the level of local housing 
need.   This is supported but it is not thought it should be based on the 
housing numbers delivered as this is subject to developer decisions and may 
not recognise the work of planning authorities who deliver permissions but 
where market forces might delay delivery on-site. The government should 
also recognise that a significant level of workload in Development 
Management now results from the range of Prior Approvals that have been 
introduced, where there is minimal or no fee.  It is suggested that the fees for 
Prior Approvals are reconsidered and increased by more than 20% 
(Appendix A, response to Question 18).

4.21 A report will be brought to Cabinet in early 2018 on the proposed first 
consultation on Dartford’s new Local Plan.  These new government 
initiatives will need to be taken on board in preparing the Plan.

5.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

5.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of 
our communities. 

5.2 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create 
strong and self-reliant communities and deliver high quality services to service 
users. 

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications No implications of responding to the consultation. 

Legal Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Staffing Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Administrative Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Risk Assessment No further uncertainties and/or constraints

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

8. Appendices

Appendix A: Proposed response to consultation questions



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Planning for the right homes in 
the right places: consultation 
proposals, DCLG, Sept 2017

Mark Aplin 
(01322) 
343202

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration 
Services

N/A



Appendix A

Proposed response to ‘planning for the right homes in the right 
places’ consultation questions

Question 1:

a) do you agree with the proposed standard approach to assessing local housing need? If not, what 
alternative approach or other factors should be considered?

b) how can information on local housing need be made more transparent?

Answer:

a) Strongly support a standard approach in principle, although we do not agree with all aspects of 
the approach as currently set out, especially the linking of the calculation of need to affordability.  
Dartford is also concerned that the proposed approach will serve to continue existing trends and 
thereby exacerbate existing problems. The ONS demographic projections used as the starting point of 
the approach are based on relatively short term trend data. This means that for local planning 
authorities (such as Dartford) that have opted to deliver a higher level of housing than local levels of 
need, this trend of recent high housing delivery will be built into future calculations of local need, 
thereby creating a perpetual cycle of ever-increasing growth. The use of longer term demographic 
data may therefore give a more accurate picture of local housing need based on longer term growth 
trends. This would reduce the impact of recent growth discrepancies between different local planning 
authorities and those that have already opted for higher levels of delivery than local need would not 
be penalised for doing so. Dartford also has major issues surrounding the provision of infrastructure, 
especially transport related, which could worsen if consciously planning to continue recent existing 
short term trends.

In terms of the boosting of supply with the aim of increasing affordability, the relationship between 
housing delivery and house prices is not clear cut. Indeed, the experience of Dartford is that recent 
high levels of housing delivery (1,162 units in 2016/17, 971 units in 2015/16), even compared to 
housing need assessed under the currently proposed methodology (778 units per year), has not 
resulted in a lowering of house prices, but has been in tandem with significant house price growth 
(13% increase between June 2016 and June 2017). Using the government’s affordability measure, 
Dartford’s median house price to workplace earnings ratio has risen sharply from 6.87 in 2013 to 
8.61 in 2017 in spite of high delivery levels (an average of 825 units per year) over this period.

There is no clear evidence about what level of delivery is required to reduce house prices and the 
extent to which it will impact prices, which will vary in differing circumstances. The theoretical 
evidence which is relied on is inadequate to justify the proposed approach.  In Dartford, house prices 
are increasingly unaffordable locally but are still significantly below London prices. Whilst this price 
disparity exists, no amount of house-building in Dartford will bring prices down because the latent 
demand from London far outstrips housing capacity in the Borough.



There are other factors to be considered related to the capacity of an area to absorb further growth. 
Dartford considers that planning to replicate existing trends ignores the growth potential of areas of 
the country outside the Greater South East. This is a missed opportunity to rebalance growth and 
relieve pressure on the South East. It ignores the fact that land is a finite resource and also that 
environmental and physical constraints may extend over a whole Housing Market Area, making 
redistribution difficult.

Greater clarity is required in relation to the overall national need figure of 225,000 to 275,000 net 
additions per year. The consultation paper references ‘external commentators’, but there is no 
explanation as to the veracity of these claims. As the formula to adjust local need appears to have 
been tailored to closely match this overall need figure, more substantial evidence is required that this 
represents a true reflection of the overall housing need for England.

Dartford is concerned that the cap on housing need will serve to reward those authorities that have 
not built enough homes in the past, whilst forcing ever higher levels of growth on those authorities 
that have delivered new homes. Fundamental land and infrastructure constraints mean that such an 
approach risks being unsustainable in the long term.

The use of the workplace earnings measure to assess affordability requires further clarity. Although 
Dartford agrees with the sustainability principle of providing homes and jobs in close proximity, the 
reality is that many people do not live and work in the same authority area, especially in and around 
Greater London. It may therefore be prudent to allow greater flexibility to assess local affordability 
issues based on local circumstances, and potentially using other measures, where a convincing case 
can be made.

Finally, the time period for the assessment of housing need requires further clarity. The government 
has produced data covering the 10 year period 2016-26; however, many Local Plans cover a 15 or 20 
year period. Should the annual requirement simply be rolled forward?

In terms of alternative approaches, the government could simplify this process by using the ONS 
household growth projections as a straightforward measure of housing need. If it is considered that 
an additional buffer is required in the event that some authorities under-deliver, an additional uplift 
percentage figure could be applied and distributed proportionately around the country without an 
unnecessary capping mechanism.

b) Dartford suggests that in the interests of transparency housing need figures for all local planning 
authorities should be published using the proposed methodology biennially, in line with the 
publication of the ONS household projections.

Question 2: do you agree with the proposal that an assessment of local housing need should be able 
to be relied upon for a period of two years from the date a plan is submitted?

Answer:

No. We consider that the assessment of local housing need should be relied upon from the date of 
publication of a draft plan (Regulation 19). There should not be an arbitrary timeframe of two years. 
Given the requirements of preparing Local Plan evidence it may take more than two years to prepare 
evidence and submit a plan for examination. Any arbitrary cut-off date is problematic and could 



serve to undermine other evidence and pose a major risk to the examination process in terms of plan 
soundness.

Question 3: do you agree that we should amend national planning policy so that a sound plan should 
identify local housing need using a clear and justified method?

Answer:

We agree with this in principle, and strongly support the additional clarity this would give to planning 
inspectors enabling them to agree principle issues of housing need at an early stage in the 
examination process. In order to establish this principle effectively, we consider that the tests of 
soundness should be considered as a whole and rationalised appropriately so as not to increase the 
number and complexity of requirements on local planning authorities in producing local plans, 
further increasing the time taken in both preparing and examining them.

Question 4: do you agree with our approach in circumstances when plan makers deviate from the 
proposed method, including the level of scrutiny we expect from Planning Inspectors?

Answer:

Yes, we agree in principle. Nevertheless, where an authority proposes to provide a higher level of 
housing than ‘needed’, a proportionate approach is required regarding the legal test of the Duty to 
Cooperate, and the question of unmet need from other surrounding authorities. Where an authority 
has chosen to deliver a higher level of housing than required to meet local need, it should be assumed 
that the duty has been met in relation to matters of housing need. There appears to be potential for 
confusion to arise from the government’s proposed approach between the tests of soundness and the 
legal Duty to Cooperate, where further clarity would be helpful.

We strongly support the Housing Infrastructure Fund to continue to encourage authorities who are 
ambitious in planning for growth. Preferential treatment and lower threshold for justification for 
accessing this funding should be allowed. The infrastructure support should not be linked to specific 
sites but there should be recognition that cumulative growth places a burden on existing 
infrastructure and a greater level of funding support is needed in these areas.

Question 5:

a) do you agree that the Secretary of State should have discretion to defer the period for using the 
baseline for some local planning authorities? If so, how best could this be achieved, what minimum 
requirements should be in place before the Secretary of State may exercise this discretion, and for 
how long should such deferral be permitted?

b) do you consider that authorities that have an adopted joint local plan, or which are covered by an 
adopted spatial development strategy, should be able to assess their five year land supply and/or be 
measured for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test, across the area as a whole?

c) do you consider that authorities that are not able to use the new method for calculating local 
housing need should be able to use an existing or an emerging local plan figure for housing need for 
the purposes of calculating five year land supply and to be measured for the purposes of the Housing 
Delivery Test?



Answer:

a) Agree in principle. Dartford has no comment to make on the minimum requirements or length of 
deferral.

b) Dartford considers that 5 year housing land supply arrangements should be dealt with through the 
adopted local plan or spatial strategy, or set out in an agreed Statement of Common Ground. If five 
year land supply or the Housing Delivery Test was assessed across wider areas, local planning 
authorities compliant in terms of their individual level of delivery could be penalised if partner 
authorities were not fulfilling their obligations. This would be unfair. (See also response to question 4 
above).

c) If this only applies to local planning authorities whose boundaries do not align with local 
authorities, Dartford has no comment to make. If not, it is unclear how authorities will be able to 
confirm whether or not they are able to use the new method.

Question 6: do you agree with the proposed transitional arrangements for introducing the standard 
approach for calculating local housing need?

Answer:

No, further clarity is required. The consultation paper is unclear as to whether any plan adopted over 
five years ago is automatically out of date. Dartford is delivering its adopted Core Strategy (2011), 
which has a plan target over and above both the level of local housing need originally identified in 
2010 and that identified via the new methodology. Dartford’s Local Plan is therefore consistently 
delivering housing at levels substantially above the Borough’s national household growth projection. 
We are confident of our plan’s high level of compliance with the NPPF in all other aspects, and 
clarification is required that other aspects of the Local Plan that do not concern the housing target 
would not be considered out of date merely due to the length of time that has passed since adoption.

Question 7:

a) do you agree with the proposed administrative arrangements for preparing the statement of 
common ground?

b) how do you consider a statement of common ground should be implemented in areas where 
there is a Mayor with strategic plan-making powers?

c) do you consider there to be a role for directly elected Mayors without strategic plan-making 
powers, in the production of a statement of common ground?

Answer:

a) Yes, in principle we agree with these arrangements. Nevertheless, Dartford considers it 
disappointing that the government have missed the opportunity to further streamline the strategic 
plan-making process by confirming the extent of Housing Market Areas. Currently, it cannot be said 
that there are ‘agreed housing market areas’.  This would have provided clarity and certainty to plan-
makers as to the relevant partner authorities involved.



Dartford welcomes the flexible intent of the proposals as described in paragraph 69; however, further 
clarity is required on the circumstances where an alternative area is justifiable or where more than 
one statement may be required.

The suggestion that preparing statements of common ground will not be an additional burden on 
local planning authorities is to ignore the political reality that the distribution of housing supply is a 
hugely sensitive issue. The practicalities of agreement across boundaries is a greatly challenging and 
time consuming task and should be subject to additional burdens funding. Moreover, there is no 
government guidance on the practicalities of successful re-distribution of housing need across 
boundaries. These include, for example, recompense to the ‘receiving’ authority through funding of 
infrastructure to support the additional growth, and confirmation from government that ‘receiving’ 
authorities will not be penalised for under-delivery which relates to the ‘additional’ growth.

b) Dartford considers that areas with a Mayor with strategic plan-making powers should engage 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis with bordering authorities, especially where there 
may be questions of unmet housing need within the Mayor’s area that will need to be considered in 
drafting the spatial strategy. The Duty to Cooperate should be extended to areas where there is a 
Mayor, to underline the necessity for them to cooperate across their boundaries.

c) Dartford has no comment to make on areas where there are directly elected Mayors without 
strategic plan-making powers.

Question 8: do you agree that the proposed content and timescales for publication of the statement 
of common ground are appropriate and will support more effective co-operation on strategic cross-
boundary planning matters?

Answer:

No. Requiring a fully functional Statement of Common Ground within 12 months (and an outline 
Statement within six months) of the publication of a revised NPPF is unrealistic given the lack of any 
prior guidance on this issue.

An expectation that local planning authorities will be able to agree a shared position on the extent of 
a Housing Market Area, the level of housing need in that area (including instances where the 
standard methodology is not followed), and the distribution of housing need across that area within 
12 months of a revised NPPF is unrealistic.

Dartford consider that there are currently a lack of incentives for authorities who may opt to receive 
additional housing development, but have to endure delayed infrastructure provision to meet the 
needs of an even higher level of growth. There appears to be a lack of practical guidance from 
government as to how the re-distribution of housing across boundaries can be effected (see response 
to Question 7 above). Addressing these issues could help to speed things up.

Question 9:

a) do you agree with the proposal to amend the tests of soundness to include that:

i) plans should be prepared based on a strategy informed by agreements over the wider area; and



ii) plans should be based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities, which are 
evidenced in the statement of common ground?

b) do you agree to the proposed transitional arrangements for amending the tests of soundness to 
ensure effective co-operation?

Answer:

a) i) No. The Duty to Cooperate as laid down in statute is not currently a duty to agree. By amending 
the tests of soundness to incorporate the principle of agreement in this way, a plan could 
theoretically be found to be unsound over a failure to agree to a strategy, despite having met the 
legal test of the Duty to Cooperate. If this were the case, further delay and uncertainty would be 
introduced into the planning process for local authorities and developers, thereby stymying growth 
and the delivery of new homes. Clear guidance to local planning authorities and planning inspectors 
on what should happen where authorities disagree on strategy is required in order to prevent this.

a) ii) No. There is already provision in the tests of soundness for testing whether or not a plan is 
effective, i.e. it is based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities. The way this 
is evidenced is for a local planning authority to demonstrate through the examination process. It 
would be more effective to alter the Planning Practice Guidance to reflect that a Statement of 
Common Ground is often the easiest way to demonstrate the existing soundness requirement.

b) No. Again, a 12 month timeframe is unrealistic for the same reasons as given in the response to 
question 8.

Question 10:

a) do you have suggestions on how to streamline the process for identifying the housing need for 
individual groups and what evidence could be used to help plan to meet the needs of particular 
groups?

b) do you agree that the current definition of older people within the National Planning Policy 
Framework is still fit-for-purpose?

Answer:

a) Dartford suggests that housing need for individual groups should be disaggregated from the total 
Objectively Assessed Need as a percentage, not as an additional level of need. This ought to be based 
on sound evidence reflecting local circumstances.

b) Dartford considers that the definition of older people is not the main issue; what is more important 
is the definition of different types of housing that may meet the specific needs of people within this 
group. The revised NPPF should therefore define such housing types as ‘sheltered’, ‘extra care’ and 
‘residential care’ in order to be more effective in meeting the specific needs of older people as they 
age.



Question 11:

a) should a local plan set out the housing need for designated neighbourhood planning areas and 
parished areas within the area?

b) do you agree with the proposal for a formula-based approach to apportion housing need to 
neighbourhood plan bodies in circumstances where the local plan cannot be relied on as a basis for 
calculating housing need?

Answer:

a) No. There is no need for a Local Plan to set out housing need for designated neighbourhood 
planning areas or parished areas. The Local Plan does not determine the level of housing need for 
sub-areas within its boundary. It sets a housing delivery target based on a spatial strategy including 
land constraints and available development sites. The spatial strategy does not expire based on an 
arbitrary 5-year timeframe. The local plan housing target should be the basis for calculating the 
housing requirement for a particular neighbourhood planning area or parish. There is no reason that 
this could not be agreed by the local planning authority and neighbourhood planning body through a 
Statement of Common Ground or Memorandum of Understanding rather than being required to be 
set out in the Local Plan. 

b) No. The distribution of housing in a neighbourhood planning area should be site-based, not 
arbitrarily based on a ‘carve up’ of demographic calculations of need that are not robust at a parish 
level. Furthermore, it will be very difficult to deduce an accurate projection of need for a 
neighbourhood planning area that crosses administrative areas and does not correspond to local 
authority, parish or ward boundaries.

Question 12: do you agree that local plans should identify the infrastructure and affordable housing 
needed, how these will be funded and the contributions developers will be expected to make?

Answer:

Yes, we agree that it is important that Local Plans should identify infrastructure and affordable 
housing requirements. However this is unlikely to be fully comprehensive and it must be 
acknowledged that planned infrastructure at plan-making stage may change over time. Therefore it 
is important that high level strategic infrastructure projects and priorities should be identified 
together with of the type and scale of other supporting infrastructure that is likely to be expected.

Local plans should be supported by an infrastructure delivery plan which should be reviewed and 
updated as the plan is delivered. This should include an indication of whether developer and/or other 
funding will be sought. Clarification of the strategic infrastructure projects likely to be required, along 
with other infrastructure and affordable housing will be important components of the viability 
assessment of the Local Plan.

The PPG already encourages the alignment of CIL charging schedules and local plan making. This will 
enable an understanding of the infrastructure to be supported through CIL and provide an overview 
of those infrastructure elements that will require S106 obligations.



Question 13: in reviewing guidance on testing plans and policies for viability, what amendments 
could be made to improve current practice?

Answer:

We consider that there should be an expectation that viability testing draws on evidence from CIL 
charging schedules, Regulation 123 lists, and Infrastructure Delivery Plans. Flexibility regarding policy 
requirements should only be extended after taking account of the certainty of delivery of priority 
strategic infrastructure in the first instance. Reference could also be made to site viability 
assessments with regard to identifying deliverable and developable land/sites.

Question 14: do you agree that where policy requirements have been tested for their viability, the 
issue should not usually need to be tested again at the planning application stage?

Answer:

Yes, we strongly agree.  The policy requirements set out in Local Plans should not be undermined at 
the appeals stage, as this only serves to undermine the strategic direction and delivery of a plan.  
Housing growth cannot be divorced from the infrastructure required to support it.  An understanding 
by developers that policy requirements are fixed will place an onus on them to incorporate these 
requirements when agreeing on the purchase price of development land.

Question 15: how can Government ensure that infrastructure providers, including housing 
associations, are engaged throughout the process, including in circumstances where a viability 
assessment may be required?

Answer:

Many infrastructure providers will be part of the engagement process under the Duty to Cooperate, 
therefore assurance that ongoing engagement has taken place should be provided through this 
process, possibly through infrastructure providers signing up to a Statement of Common Ground.

Question 16: what factors should we take into account in updating guidance to encourage viability 
assessments to be simpler, quicker and more transparent, for example through a standardised 
report or summary format?

Answer:

Due to the need for viability assessments to take into account site and locality specific parameters it 
may not be possible to set out a fully standardised report. However, it would be reasonable to set out 
the key elements such as land value not being based on historic values but values that reflect 
planning policy compliant alternative land use and a reasonable return to the landowner – to ensure 
uplift in value through development provides for the delivery of policy and infrastructure identified 
through the Local Plan. Certainly the guidance should set out that components of cost and 
development value must be clear and justified using objective, recognised data sources. Indication of 
a justified and reasonable buffer to cover investment risk will also be an important component of the 
viability assessment and should be noted in guidance. Acceptance of risk featuring in the assessment 
could encourage greater transparency of development viability assessments.



Question 17:

a) do you agree that local planning authorities should set out in plans how they will monitor and 
report on planning agreements to help ensure that communities can easily understand what 
infrastructure and affordable housing has been secured and delivered through developer 
contributions?

b) what factors should we take into account in preparing guidance on a standard approach to 
monitoring and reporting planning obligations?

c) how can local planning authorities and applicants work together to better publicise infrastructure 
and affordable housing secured through new development once development has commenced, or at 
other stages of the process?

Answer:

a) These elements should be expected components of an authority’s Monitoring Report, which will 
provide an annual update of delivery. Affordable housing delivery already features in these reports. 
In addition CIL annual reports and updates of infrastructure delivery plans are existing mechanisms 
that provide the potential for communities to be provided with regular updates on delivery.

b) There are some practical matters to be considered in setting a standardised approach. For two tier 
authorities obligation payments can often be split between county and district level. With regard to 
affordable housing obligations these are often delivered through registered providers and details will 
be dependent on these bodies providing up to date information. It would be helpful if there was an 
expectation that applicants/developers provide annual updates where applicable on affordable 
housing and other supporting infrastructure delivery.

c) Dartford has no further comment to make on this issue. The suggestions set out above are 
sufficient to provide information through partnership working.

Question 18:

a) do you agree that a further 20 per cent fee increase should be applied to those local planning 
authorities who are delivering the homes their communities need? What should be the criteria to 
measure this?

b) do you think there are more appropriate circumstances when a local planning authority should be 
able to charge the further 20 per cent? If so, do you have views on how these circumstances could 
work in practice?

c) should any additional fee increase be applied nationally once all local planning authorities meet 
the required criteria, or only to individual authorities who meet them?

d) are there any other issues we should consider in developing a framework for this additional fee 
increase?



Answer:

a) Yes, the increase should be applied to those local planning authorities who are delivering homes at 
or above their level of local housing need.

The criteria to assess this should be based on the number of housing units granted through planning 
permissions as a percentage of local housing need. Dartford do not consider it should be based on 
the housing numbers delivered as this is subject to developer decisions and may not recognise the 
work of planning authorities who deliver permissions but where market forces or other developer 
considerations might delay delivery on-site.

b) In order to ensure additional resources for those authorities subject to high market pressures, an 
additional fee of 20 per cent could be applied to all planning applications that propose new 
residential development (including Prior Approval applications), and should include some proposals 
to extend existing homes. The government could introduce a size threshold in order to avoid 
penalising smaller householder developments.

c) Dartford considers it unlikely that all planning authorities will meet the required criteria as there 
are so many differences between authorities. If the fee is to be related to targets then it should be 
applied to those authorities who are committed to meeting them and have achieved those targets.

d) Prior Approvals, where there is minimal or no fee, have significantly increased workloads in local 
planning authority Development Management sections. Significant resource input is required for 
these applications and there are often on-going implications. The increase in fees on traditional 
planning applications is therefore effectively cross-subsidising these non/low-fee applications. Homes 
delivered by the prior approval route have no requirement to meet good design or amenity 
standards. Traditional house builders will therefore be paying a higher fee and will be subject to 
higher design criteria, whereas other non-traditional developers converting buildings will not have 
these costs and standards to meet. Dartford would suggest that the fees for Prior Approvals where 
the creation of new dwellings is concerned are reconsidered and increased by more than 20%.

Question 19: having regard to the measures we have already identified in the housing White Paper, 
are there any other actions that could increase build out rates?

Answer:

There remains a need for active disincentives for developers who are not delivering new homes 
where planning permission has been granted. Although the Housing White Paper identified some 
useful mechanisms to allow local planning authorities to gain a clearer picture of actual build out 
rates by requiring developers to produce information, it remains unclear what would happen were 
developers not to produce this information. The concept of charging Council Tax on unbuilt planning 
permissions is supported. In short, there should be a better balance between ‘carrots’ and ‘sticks’ in 
order to ensure development goes ahead and new homes are delivered.

Additionally, the Council welcomes the proposals for prematurity considerations to be strengthened 
through the NPPF as set out in the consultation document. This will ensure that emerging plans are 
not undermined by speculative development proposals prior to plan finalisation.



CABINET
 2 NOVEMBER 2017

ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER – HOUSING ESTATE CLEANING & 
WINDOW CLEANING CONTRACT 

1. Summary

1.1 To advise Members of the outcome of the tender for the Housing Estate 
Cleaning & Window Cleaning Contract to deliver an estate cleaning and 
window cleaning service to the Council’s housing stock and to seek 
approval to enter into a contract with the successful tenderer.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1. That subject to the completion of the consultation in relation to s20 Landlord 
& Tenant Act 1985, and the OJEU standstill period that the Housing Estate 
and Window Cleaning Contract be awarded to ‘Company A’, referred to in 
Appendix A to the report, in the exempt part of the agenda for a period of 3 
years from 01/01/2018, with the option to extend the contract for a further 
two years. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The current estate cleaning and window cleaning contract, which covers 
estate cleaning and window cleaning to the communal parts of all large and 
medium sized blocks of flats and maisonettes belonging to the Council, 
numbering approximately 220 blocks in total.  The contract expires on the 
31.12.2017.

3.2 The proposed estate services cleaning contract provides for the 
comprehensive cleaning of internal and external common areas including 
window cleaning, litter picking, graffiti removal and bulk debris/fly tipping 
removal, drainage and gulley cleaning works.  The contract also makes 
provision for out of hours’ emergency works not included in the current 
contracts, and, bulk refuse collection, based on day rates. These elements of 
the contract continue to be included following positive feedback from 
customers, the DBRF and Council staff who monitor the current contract.

3.3 In order to ensure that the process has been conducted in accordance with 
European Procurement Regulations, and that any risk to the Council is 
minimised, Rand Associates were appointed to advise the Council throughout 
the pre-tender process.

4. Procurement & Evaluation Process Undertaken.

4.1 Due to the nature of the contract and its value, the Council was required to 
advertise the contract, via an Official Journal of the European Union Notice 
(OJEU) to alert prospective bidders of the contract’s existence.  

4.2 Twenty two tenders were returned and an evaluation process was 
undertaken, which results in the recommendation of ‘Company A’ referred to 
in Appendix A to the report, in the exempt part of the agenda, as the Council’s 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

preferred bidder, in terms of cost, quality and meeting the requirements of the 
Council and its customers. Reviews of performance and quality are to be 
undertaken on an annual basis.

4.3 It is recommended that subject to the completion of the  consultation in 
relation to s20 Landlord & Tenant Act 1985, and the OJEU standstill period 
Council enter into a contract with ‘Company A’, for a three year period from 
the 01/01/2018, with an option to extend for a further two years. 

4.4   Due to the commercially sensitive nature of the information collected during 
the tender process, all evaluation information is attached as Appendix A, in 
the exempt part of the report.

5. Consultation

5.1 Consultation with tenants and residents has taken place via Dartford Borough 
Residents Group and member of the group form part of the current contract 
monitoring team.

5.2 Consultation has also been undertaken with leaseholders in accordance with 
the requirements of s20 Landlord & Tenant Act 1985 (as amended). The 
outcome of the first stage of consultation, notifying leaseholders of the 
intention to enter into a long term agreement, was broadly supported and 
those who responded wanted the new contract to focus on the quality of work 
and monitoring arrangements, and one that combined window and estate 
cleaning, litter picking, graffiti removal and drainage and gulley cleaning. 
There was also support for entry into a long term contract for five years, with 
an option to extend for a further two.  

The second stage of consultation will involve notifying leaseholders of 
proposals to enter into a long term agreement with the preferred contractor 
and will include the estimated contribution relevant to the leaseholder’s unit of 
occupation. The Council in its capacity as landlord, has a duty to have regard 
to written observations that are made within the consultation period and must 
reply to any observations within 21 days. The contract cannot be formally let 
until this process has been completed.

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

6.1   Housing & Stronger Communities - HS 2.  
             

To provide high quality housing services and to strive to improve the quality 
and condition of the Borough’s private rented housing sector.

7. Financial, legal, staffing, administrative implications & risk assessments

Financial 
Implications

Cabinet approval is needed for the award of the proposed 
contract, as its value exceeds £250,000 over 3 years. 

All costs will be met from the ring fenced Housing Revenue 
Account. The costs to deliver the contract have been built into 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

the 2017/2018 budget process. 

The financial standing of the recommended company has been 
verified by Financial Services as being acceptable in relation to 
this value of contract.

The Council is committed to award the contract to the most 
economically advantageous tender.

Legal 
Implications

The contract has been procured and will be let in accordance 
with European Procurement Rules (OJEU).

The Council has and will continue to consult with its tenants 
and residents in accordance with s105 of the Housing Act 
1985, and Section 151 Commonhold and Leasehold Reform 
Act 2002, as the contract provides services to the locality 
around their homes. 

The terms of the contract will be agreed in consultation with 
the Head of Legal Services and will include termination 
clauses to cover events such as financial insolvency, poor 
performance etc.

Break clauses exist in the contract that allows either party to 
terminate the contract.

Public Sector 
Equality Duty

Not applicable.

Staffing 
Implications

No changes to current staffing arrangements are required.

Admin 
Implications

No changes to current administrative arrangements are 
required.

Risk 
Assessment

Failure to let this contract will be to the detriment of the tenants 
and leaseholders that reside in the Council blocks, impact on 
the Council’s reputation as a landlord as well as impact 
negatively in terms of the housing stock as a significant Council 
asset.

Appendices

 Appendix A – Exempt – Evaluation Scores & Summary

Appendix A has been placed on the closed part of the agenda 
because it contains exempt information within Standing Order 46(1) 
(b) and Annex 1, paragraph 3, namely, information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding the information) and in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in not disclosing the information outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information.   



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report
Author

Section & Directorate Exempt
Information 
Cat.

Peter Dosad
Ext 3327

Housing, Strategic 
Directorate (Ext Svs).

Appendix A 
– Annex 1 
Paragraph 3



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

100% BUSINESS RATES RETENTION PILOT 2018/19 

1. Summary

1.1 The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has invited 
local authorities to participate in a pilot of 100% Business Rates Retention in 
2018/19. The local authorities in Kent have worked together to develop a Kent 
Pilot proposal. This report asks Members to note that this pilot proposal has 
now been submitted which includes Dartford Borough Council.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note that a proposal has been submitted to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government, to include Dartford Borough Council’s 
participation in the Kent wide 100% Business Rates Retention pilot for 
2018/19.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Government introduced a new 50% Business Rates Retention 
Scheme from 1 April 2013. The scheme provides an incentive to 
councils to grow their local economy by allowing them to retain a 
proportion of any business rates growth. In return, councils also share 
the risk of losses of business rates income, subject to a safety net 
mechanism.

3.2. As part of the scheme, the Government set a baseline funding level for 
each authority. The first 50% of any additional business rate yield 
above this baseline goes to the Treasury with the balance being split 
80% to the Borough and 20% to the County and major preceptors. On 
the Borough’s share, a 50% levy is then payable to the Government.

3.3. Local authorities are able to come together on a voluntary basis to pool 
their business rates, allowing them to retain a greater percentage of 
any growth within the local area. The Council is currently part of a Kent 
pool, which includes Kent County Council, Kent Fire and Rescue and 
all the districts, with the exception of Dover and Sevenoaks. This has 
enabled the levy rate to be reduced to 3.6%, with an anticipated benefit 
across Kent for 2017/18 of £7.3m. This benefit is split 30% to the 
Borough; 30% to Kent County Council to be used to the benefit of 
growth throughout the pool area; 30% to joint regeneration projects in 
the Borough area; and 10% to a contingency pot to authorities within 
the pool that fall into a safety net position. 

3.4. The Government had planned to move to 100% Business Rates 
Retention in 2019/20. While this proposal is currently in doubt after 
relevant legislation was dropped from the Parliamentary calendar, the 
DCLG has nevertheless invited local authorities to participate in a pilot 
of 100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/19.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

3.5. The DCLG have issued a pilot prospectus which encourages local 
authorities to apply as a pool, particularly in two-tier areas. The 
deadline for proposals is 27 October 2017.

3.6. Kent Finance Officers commissioned LG Futures, specialist public 
sector finance consultants, to carry out an assessment of the risks and 
rewards of the Kent local authorities pooling together as a pilot. 

3.7. On current projections, a pilot would deliver a financial benefit of 
around £18 million for the area as a whole in 2018/19. This benefit 
represents business rates income that would otherwise go back to the 
Treasury.

3.8. Participation in a pilot involves bearing the cost of any drop in income 
amongst pool members, subject to an overall pilot safety net of 97% of 
baseline business rates income. The current safety net is 92.5% so the 
potential loss under a pilot would be less than under the current pooling 
arrangement. LG Futures’ modelling also suggests that, based on the 
business rates income collected each year in Kent since 2015/16, there 
is ‘strong evidence’ that there will be increased business rates 
resources for Kent in 2018/19. The projected gain from participation in 
the pilot (£18 million) represents around 4% of Kent’s estimated 
2017/18 business rates income. It would therefore take a very 
significant setback to business rates income growth to wipe out this 
benefit, particularly in the context of steady growth over the last three 
years.

3.9. The Kent authorities are proposing a pilot to include Kent County 
Council, Kent Fire and Rescue, all twelve districts and Medway. This is 
considered an appropriate geography for a successful pilot bid as:

 it is an established and coherent functional economic area;

  it is coterminous with a range of public service planning and 
delivery arrangements;

  it shares common opportunities and challenges, particularly 
related to population growth; and

  it offers a balance of spatial and economic characteristics that 
are relevant to a national pilot – Kent’s profile includes large 
urban centres, rural communities and coastal towns, with wide 
variances in the viability of development, the ability to grow the 
business rates base and local economic opportunities.

3.10. Any pilot proposal must promote financial sustainability and stability; 
support population and housing growth; support investment and 
employment; incentivise collaboration and be fair, transparent and 
sustainable.

3.11. In order to meet the criteria, the bid proposes splitting the pilot gain 
70% to a financial sustainability fund and 30% to a housing and 
commercial growth fund.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

3.12. The financial sustainability fund would provide greater certainty to all of 
the Kent local authorities to support them in managing the pressures 
associated with growth. It would provide a guaranteed revenue 
baseline for each authority and would link growth in funding with 
population increase and business rates increase. It would ensure that 
every authority benefits, whilst directing resources to those areas 
facing the greatest pressure. Funds would be used to support costs 
incurred by the local authorities in the exercise of their statutory 
functions, where these have increased due to growth, for example in 
relation to additional housing and community services and social care.

3.13. The housing and commercial growth fund would ensure there is a 
sufficiently large pool of resources to support future delivery, where 
outcomes can be better achieved by local authorities working together 
across a wider area. The fund would be distributed to the three clusters 
of North Kent, West Kent and East Kent based on each area’s share of 
total business rate receipts.

3.14. Maidstone Borough Council administers the existing business rates 
pool and, in the interest of continuity, has indicated that they are willing 
and able to take on the role as lead authority for the pilot.

3.15. DCLG requires local authorities to state whether they wish to continue 
with, or amend, existing pooling arrangements in the event of a pilot 
application being unsuccessful. Both Dover and Sevenoaks have 
expressed an interest in joining the current pool. This would have a 
negative impact on the levy rate payable on growth, increasing it from 
3.6% to 12.6%. It is therefore proposed, that in order to maximise the 
business rates income that is retained in Kent, that the existing pool 
remains but that a sum equivalent to what they would have received 
had they been in the pool is then paid to Dover and Sevenoaks from 
the pool’s contingency reserve. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Business rate income forms a significant income stream for the 
Council. Ensuring that the Council maximises its income potential from 
business rates is key to supporting a sound financial strategy. This is 
an important element of the Council Performing Strongly theme.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The potential gains from a Kent pilot are 
estimated at £18m for 2018/19. Dartford Borough 
Council’s share of this gain, as part of the 
financial sustainability fund, would be around 
£460,000. In addition, the North Kent cluster is 
anticipated to receive around £3 million as part of 
the housing and commercial growth fund. 

Legal Implications
 

To be accepted as a pilot for 2018/19, agreement 
must be secured locally from all relevant 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

authorities to be designated as a pool for 
2018/19 (in accordance with Part 9 of Schedule 
7B to the Local Government Finance Act 1988) 
and to put in place local arrangements to pool 
their additional business rates income.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Whilst being part of a pilot would mean bearing 
the cost of any negative growth amongst pool 
members, this would be subject to a safety net of 
97%, compared to the current pool safety net of 
92.5%. There is therefore a lower risk of a 
financial loss under a pilot than the current pool. 
Based on business rates growth across Kent 
over the last three years and projections of 
growth in 2017/18, it would take a significant set 
back in business rates income before the pool 
would fall into a safety net position.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Business rate pooling data 
collated across Kent 
authorities

Sarah Martin
(01322) 343402

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2017/18

1. Summary

1.1 To update Members on financial performance against the 2017/18 budget 
to date for the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note that the overall level of spend and income for the year 
is expected to be within the parameters of the budget. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The revenue budgets for 2017/18 were approved by the Council on 27 
February 2017. This is the second monitoring report.

3.2 Budget monitoring reports are submitted to Cabinet, in narrative form, 
concentrating on the key financial risks. The key risks account for a large part 
of the Council’s General Fund Budget. Appendix A gives a commentary on 
these areas and includes a short commentary on the Housing Revenue 
Account.

3.3 This report is based on information available up to the end of September and 
discussions with Spending Officers. It is too early in the year to be able to 
confidently predict the year-end outturn.

3.4 There are some areas where overspending has been identified, spending on 
temporary accommodation being the most significant at a possible overspend 
of £580,000. 

3.5 The risk based approach to monitoring tends to identify areas of concern at 
an early stage but cumulative instances of underspend are unlikely to be 
reported until the projected outturn position is identified in December or at 
year-end. 

3.6 Given positive figures on business rates, the overall level of spend and 
income for the year is expected to be within the budget envelop.

3.7 Further details are given in the attached commentary.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Regular monitoring and reporting of the Council’s financial position is key to 
maintaining a sound financial strategy.  This is an important element of the 
Council Performing Strongly theme.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Overall, and excepting for temporary 
accommodation, no significant budget 
concerns have been identified in the first 
six months of the financial year.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment Without effective monitoring, the risk of 

not being able to meet the Council’s 
objectives within the approved budget 
would increase, but regular budget 
monitoring and swift action to correct 
budget failures significantly reduces this 
risk.

6. Appendices

Appendix A - General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Commentary

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Budget 
Monitoring 
papers

Tim Sams
01322 343148

Financial 
Services/ 
Internal 
Services

N/A



Appendix A

    Commentary on main budget risks    

Investment Income  

As at 30th September the Council had received £0.026m from internally managed 
investments and £0.549m from the externally managed pooled funds.  The Council 
realised a gain of £0.091m on the switch of its holdings in the Investec Funds and 
realised a loss of £0.044m on the sale of the Aberdeen fund.  The total income received 
from investments is £0.622m with a further £0.251m of dividends declared but not yet 
received.  At the end of the year there will be a transfer to the HRA for their element of 
the interest but even once this is taken out, the Council is likely to exceed the budget of 
£0.650m.

Staffing Savings   

The salary savings budget of £125,000 has been achieved in the first six months of the 
year.  To the end of September the total saving is £137,320.

Inflation Allowance on Contracts  

Each year a global sum is aside within the budget for in-year inflation increases and for 
2017/18 this was set at £105,000 (2%).  Throughout the year, as and when annual 
increases in contracts/annual payments are determined, virements are actioned to the 
appropriate budget headings. The waste management contract is the main contract that 
calls on this budget. The effective date for this contract increase is 1st July and with CPI 
standing at 2.6% at that date, the allocation made from the inflation budget for this 
particular contract has been more than anticipated.  However, nearly £35,000 remains of 
the allowance.

Additional Grants 

Two new grants were received from the DCLG in 2016/17: New Burdens grant payment 
for Brownfield Land Registers and Permission in Principle and Self and Custom Build 
Housing. Payments in respect of these two new work streams will also be made in 
2017/18 (dates unknown).  The amount for Brownfield Registers is yet to be determined 
but the Custom Build grant has been set at £30,000. Grant payments for both items are 
ongoing until 2019/20. The additional Individual Electoral Registration funding of £17,105 
from the Cabinet Office has now been received. 

Corporate Land and Properties Income   

The Corporate Land and Properties current income budget for rents and service charges 
for 2017/18 is £733,120. The budgeted income should be achieved. However, 
additionally this year, following a review by the Valuers, and the Council’s receipt of 
independent assurance, further rental income of £194,500 will be forthcoming regarding 
accrued turnover rent for one of the Council’s properties. The amount of the turnover rent 
will be variable each year but looking at past performance (to August 2016), £40,000 is 
the potential additional income per annum.



Appendix A

Benefits

The budget for total expenditure on benefits is £28m. Expenditure is currently lower than 
the profiled budget by around £422,000. Most of the expenditure is reimbursed by 
Government grant and the Council also receives income from the recovery of overpaid 
housing benefit. It is the combination of all of these factors which make up the overall 
financial position.

The 2016/17 grant claim is being audited and it is possible for audit adjustments to be 
made to the claim, which would affect the budgetary position in the current year. 

The net budget is £25,000. It is likely that the budget will not be required and that good 
overpayment recovery will result in a surplus position, the size of the surplus is likely to be 
similar to last year’s figure of around £200,000.

Land Charges Income  

The budget for land charges income for 2017/18 is £80,000 and this has already been 
achieved. The actual to the end of September is £98,381 which is £58,000 higher than 
anticipated and it is significantly higher than the first six months of in 2016/17. The 
number and search types have varied between the two years: in the first half of 2016/17, 
454 full searches were undertaken increasing to 598 in the current financial year while the 
number of personal searches has reduced from 1044 in 2016/17 to 892 in 2017/18.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

The position to the end of September is shown in the following table:

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £80,000
Profile to Month 6 £40,000

£62,777 Actual to Period 6 £98,381
£141,844 Outturn

Special Events   

The net budget for the festival is £85,470. Income was £37,000 above its budget of 
£40,000 and £33,000 more than the previous financial year. This was achieved through 
additional bar and catering concessions and new sponsors.  Stallholder income was 
similar to last year. Costs are currently being finalised but are expected to be £183,000 
against a budget of £125,470.  The higher expenditure is due to a number of factors 
including additional and more specialised security following advice and the associated 
costs to attract new sponsors, such as enhancing the backstage hospitality and additional 
printing costs for the programme and banners. Stage 2 also had improved infrastructure 
to initially accommodate the Icon Theatre, but this was also benefited by the other 
performers.  The net overspend will be approximately £20,000. 

Acacia  

The Acacia budget is being carefully managed and monitored by officers.  Expenditure is 
kept to essential only. The cost of running the site is supported by a budgeted 
contribution from reserves. Many costs have been reduced, particularly utility and repairs 



Appendix A

and maintenance of buildings which should decrease the use of the reserve. Additionally 
and where practically possible ad hoc premise hires are taken up.

Waste and Parks Management  

The 2017/18 income budget from the lease of the café in the park was reduced to 
£15,000 from the £25,150 budget set in 2016/17.  This followed uncertainty regarding the 
effective date and value of a new lease.  The centre was operational from April and for 
2017/18 the income to the Council will be £25,670.

For the first six months of the year, the Council has incurred costs of £6,500 on illegal 
dumping clearance against an annual budget of £20,000.  At the end of the first six 
months of 2016/17, £39,000 had been spent with the outturn for the year at £55,000. 
Although the numbers of incidents are similar for the two years, there are fewer costly 
incidents as in 2017/18 to date there has been less clearance work involving asbestos, 
tyres, dumped caravans and large fly tips.

Income from garden waste is £22,000 above the income budget of £178,000. However, 
contractor’s costs will also be above budget and there will be a net overspend which 
should be lower than the prior year’s overspend. Projections are currently being 
considered and will be incorporated within the projected outturn report to Cabinet in 
December. 

Cemeteries Income  

Cemeteries income to the end of September is close to last year’s income for the same 
period and although slightly under the expected income for the period, the 2017/18 
income budget is expected to be achieved.

The table below shows the position to the end of September.

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £195,000
Profile to Month 6 £97,500

£94,411 Actual to Period 6 £93,573
£197,288 Outturn

Licensing   

General licensing income as at the end of September is £1,512 higher compared to the 
same period last year and is £6,204 higher than this year’s anticipated income.  The 
majority of the income is received from September onwards when the Gambling Act 2005 
and Licensing Act 2003 annual fees are due.  It is therefore too early to predict an outturn 
at this stage.

Vehicle licensing income is £2,339 higher than the profiled budget, but £5,817 lower than 
the same period last year. 

Overall, although income is down when compared to the first half year of 2016/17, it is 
ahead of the anticipated position as at the end of September 2017.  Much of the variation 



Appendix A

will be due to payment timings between the two years. It is likely that the income budget 
will be achieved.

The following table gives the position as at the end of September:

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £144,400
Profile to Month 6 £47,360 

£60,208 Actual to Period 6                    £55,903
£154,061 Outturn

Car Parks Income  

The two tables below show the position as at 30 September for car parking fees and 
charges and fines and costs (PCN) income. Fees and charges are £15,000 under target 
and £13,000 lower than the first six month’s income in 2016/17. A number of pay and 
display machines have been subject to vandalism or theft. The closure of Central Car 
Park required to facilitate the Lowfield Street redevelopment is producing a loss of 
income, the amount lost will depend upon where the displaced drivers park in future.  
There will be some savings following the car park closure i.e. NNDR and rent. The 
anticipated effect on expenditure and income will be included within the projected outturn 
figures which will be reported to Members in December.  The Council has received a one-
off £79,000 payment by way of compensation for surrender of the lease. 

Fines and costs are £16,000 higher than expected for the first six months of the year and 
£45,000 higher than the same period last year. Although there is an increase in income, 
the final year-end position will be dependent upon any change in the level of provision 
made for unpaid debts as at 31 March 2018 compared to the previous financial year. 

Following the introduction of the safety car in 2016/17, PCNs are being issued to ensure 
regulation compliance around schools. As at the end of September, income stands at 
£4,595 against an annual budget of £20,100.  These figures are not included within the 
tables below.

Fees & Charges 

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £545,420
Profile to Month 6 £272,710

£271,460 Actual to Period 6 £257,791
£560,845 Outturn

Fines & Costs

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £293,240
Profile to Month 6 £146,620

£117,153 Actual to Period 6                   £162,633
£237,755 Outturn



Appendix A

Dartford Markets  

The following table shows the position for market income as at the end of September. 
Market receipts are under their target budget for the half year by £23,000. Saturday 
market income is £4,000 under target and Thursday market by £17,000. It is anticipated 
that the continued promotions at One Bell Corner will generate both interest and income. 
The Thursday market has been affected by 3 traders (12-14 pitches) being on long-term 
sick which has contributed to the loss of income during the period.

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £243,100
Profile to Month 6 £121,550

£115,463 Actual to Period 6 £100,854
£223,913 Outturn

Planning Income   

Income from planning fees is recovering from the slow start at the beginning of the year 
and as at the end of September income is on target. 

New income budgets have been introduced in 2017/18. Following the introduction of 
planning performance agreements mid 2016/17, a budget of £58,000 was set. Outturn is 
likely to be around £100,000.

Pre-application advice charges have been extended from commercial to include 
householders and a general enquiries budget was also established.  The budget for these 
income streams was set at £69,500.  At this stage the projected outturn is expected to be 
approximately £24,000. Pre-application advice has significantly dropped since charging 
was introduced and is contrary to experience elsewhere.

Combining the projected income for planning performance agreements and pre-
application charges, it is currently expected that outturn should be close to budget.

The table below gives the position for the main planning fees as at the end of September. 

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £446,840
Profile to Month 6 £223,420

£329,223 Actual to Period 6 £221,953 
£570,148 Outturn

519 No. of Receipts to period 6 540
23 No. of Receipts > £1K 16

£220,928 Value of Receipts > £1K £112,509



Appendix A

Building Control  

The number of In-year receipts is lower this year compared to the same period last 
financial year. Income is £12,000 under target and £10,000 lower than the same period in 
2016/17, when the 2016/17 first half year figure is adjusted for the exceptionally large 
receipt of £86,000 in respect of a major development in the borough.

The following table shows the position at 30 September.

2016/17 2017/18
Current Budget £284,000
Profile to Month 6 £142,000

£226,490 In Year Receipts to Period 6 £129,770
£258,330 Outturn

404 No of Receipts to Period 6 332

Temporary Accommodation 

The budgets for housing homeless clients continue to be put under pressure. Both nightly 
paid and leased accommodation spend have exceeded the budget for the whole year. 
The Council purchased 16,867 nights in nightly paid accommodation to the end of 
September and 17,349 nights in leased accommodation, compared with 18,331 and 
13,260 at the same point in 2016, an increase of 8.3%, which is similar to the increase in 
the first quarter. 

The new flexible homelessness support grant of £269,000 has been received for 
2017/18.  It replaces the Department for Work and Pensions’ temporary accommodation 
management fee paid as part of housing benefit. At this point, it is unclear how this will 
affect other income. If it leads to a corresponding reduction in Housing Benefit payable it 
will have a neutral impact on the budget, but it is more likely that the grant will result in 
less income to the Council especially if case volumes continue to increase as the grant is 
fixed for previous levels of activity.

It is difficult to give an accurate prediction of the year-end position at this stage because 
of the new grant and it is early to gauge housing benefits income. Last year total net costs 
were £982,000. For the current year, the budget was increased to £400,000. However, 
given the position to date, it seems likely that the 2017/18 net position will result in a 
similar, if not higher, net cost.

Management Team are being briefed regularly by the Housing Department regarding the 
pressure and looking at how this might be mitigated. The situation is closely monitored.

Future challenges are on the horizon in terms of the introduction of the Homeless 
Reduction Act and the team are similarly preparing a full briefing note for Management 
Team. 

Business Rates Income 

It is likely that business rates income will be higher than the budgeted position. This is 
mainly due to a distribution of prior year surplus income of £471,000. Additionally some 



Appendix A

gains from pooling are likely to be receivable in year. The level of in year gain is 
significantly affected by the appeals position. 

Going forward, the appeals position remains uncertain as significant undecided appeals 
remain from the 2010 list. Additionally, it is expected that there will be significant 
challenges to the 2017 valuations. Initial information from the valuation office in relation to 
valuation checks and challenges has been provided but it is only limited at this stage and 
it is likely that the end of year provision for appeals will rely strongly on estimation 
techniques.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT  

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) carried forward a balance of just over £12.7m from 
2016/2017 (£11.7m from 2015/16) and overall is underspending to date compared to 
budget. 

At the half year mark there are no significant overspends or underspends but some areas 
are worth noting and these are discussed in more detail below.

Employees – an underspend of just under £50,000 has accumulated to date, mainly due 
to staff vacancies.

Expenditure on both Planned and Responsive Repairs is lower than the half year budget. 
So far just over a third of the budget has been spent at the year’s mid-point. This is 
similar to last year and not unexpected on the Responsive Repairs budget as there tend 
to be more repairs in the winter months. On the Planned Maintenance variances, the 
Housing Maintenance Manager has reported that most of the budgets showing 
underspends are committed and he expects total spend to be close to budget. There are 
expected underspends on Asbestos Management but these will be balanced against 
overspends on sheltered dwellings.

The methodology for calculating the public liability insurance premium recharge has been 
updated to more accurately reflect claims history. HRA insurance costs are expected to 
exceed the budget by around £50,000.

Supporting People – income is currently being received from Kent County Council even 
though it was not expected to continue this year. 

Income of £65,113 has been received from the feed-in tariff for solar energy, which is 
£15,000 higher than the budget to date.

This year will continue to be challenging, being the second year of four years of year on 
year rent reductions. However, Central Government is proposing that at the end of the 
four years, social housing rents can rise subject to increases being limited to the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 1% for 5 years from 2020. This is aimed to give social 
tenants, councils and housing associations the security and certainty they need.

In view of the pressures mentioned above, the HRA will be closely monitored and the 
Business Plan regularly updated, with Cabinet being informed of any significant 
variances.



Appendix A

Provision will need to be made for the £5 million maturity payment on the HRA debt, due 
in 2022, which is in addition to the budgeted principal of £4.4m per annum .



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2017/2018

1. Summary

1.1 To inform Cabinet of the progress to date on the projects which make up the 
approved Capital Budget and to report the latest position on capital resources.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. Progress made to date on the 2017/18 Capital Programme, be noted.

2.2. That the current position on the Capital Prudential Indicators, as shown in Appendix 
C, be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The original budget for 2017/18 was approved by the GAC on 27 February 
2017 at £22.216m.  The budget was subsequently amended by Cabinet to 
reflect partially complete projects from the 2016/17 programme on 29 June 
2017; the capital budget currently stands at £23.067m.

3.2. Attached as Appendices A and B to this report are details of the Capital 
Programme and budget for 2017/18. These detail the resources available 
for Housing and General Fund projects respectively, and the expenditure to 
the end of September 2017. Appendix C shows an updated position on the 
Council’s Capital Prudential Indicators. 

3.3 Housing Revenue Account projects

The budget approved by GAC on 27 February 2017 was £12.21m and was 
subsequently revised by Cabinet to £12.817m in June to roll forward 
underspend for necessary communal area work. 

Appendix A shows the financial position for each scheme as at the end of 
September 2017.

Most work programmes are progressing to plan but it is worth noting two 
projects below:

External Wall Rendering:

The project was due to take place in 2017/18. However as the project 
included an element of external insulation the project has been deferred so 
that any lessons for the Council’s low level stock from the Grenfell Tower 
tragedy can be considered. The project is expected to proceed in 2018/19. 
Roll over of unspent funds will be requested from Cabinet.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

New Build Housing: 

Expenditure on New Build Housing is funded in the ratio of 30:70 by 
retained capital receipts (which would otherwise have had to be paid over to 
central government).  The delivery of the Council’s new build projects is 
subject to an agreement with the Secretary of State, whereby the Council 
must spend to agreed limits (driven by the amount of capital receipts it 
retained three years earlier) or face repayment of the underspent amount, 
plus interest. It is not always easy to match the expenditure incurred with the 
target sum but the Council has not had to repay any monies or interest to 
central government since the start of its new build programme.

Although substantial works have started on the scheme at Coleridge 
Road/Shaftesbury Lane, in terms of groundworks, development has been 
slower than planned due to delays in receiving the necessary highways 
licences from Kent County Council to enable delivery vehicles on site.  It is 
possible that this will lead to an underspend against the spend profile. If this 
happens, this will require the Council to pay into the national pool previously 
received capital receipts, equivalent to the underspend. The Council will 
also be required to make an interest payment to the Department for 
Communities and Local Government. The current projects will not be 
impacted by these payments as other retained receipts can be used in the 
place of the pooled receipts.

In order to maximise the use of retained receipts Officers will be assessing 
various options with the aim of identifying sites and obtaining the necessary 
permissions.   

3.4 General Fund projects: 

Including Community Infrastructure Levy projects, the general fund budget 
approved by GAC on 27 February 2017 was £10.006m and was 
subsequently revised to £10.25m in July. Most schemes are progressing 
satisfactorily. Some project specific updates are included below:

Acacia Hall – The Cranford Road depot works are now on site and due for 
completion this calendar year. Completion of this facility is timely as the new 
grounds maintenance contract will be awarded shortly thereafter. The 
majority of the project works are now expected to be incurred in the next 
financial year with an expected in year underspend of £2.5m.

The Acacia project has been further delayed as officers have been working 
closely with the Environment Agency (EA) to resolve flood risk design 
associated with the removal of the weir at the rear of Acacia Hall and 
naturalisation of the river within the Acacia grounds. The works require 
statutory approval from the EA and modelling work is complex and highly 
specialised.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

However, this project has generated a much wider interest with the EA now 
seeking funding to improve the whole stretch of the river from Princes 
Tunnel to the Acacia site, through Central Park (some 700-800m) which will 
bring a phase change to the visual and ecological quality of the river through 
Central Park. The flood modelling work is now well under way and initial 
agreement with the EA on proposals are expected soon.

Officers are looking to coordinate work with the EA so both projects are 
carried out at the same time, to ensure the flood risk is managed and the 
environmental improvements are coordinated.

Officers anticipate a planning application for the Acacia site will be 
submitted shortly with the works tendered early in the New Year.

Fairfield Improvements – Cabinet agreed this project in June [Min. No.  
21]. In order to determine the most appropriate and cost effective way of 
maximising the car parking capacity, officers have commissioned 
consultancy services through the Civil Structural Engineering Professional 
Consultancy Framework.

Places for People have been told to proceed with the internal works to the 
changing rooms - commencement of which is planned in January 2018.

Stone Lodge Leisure Facilities – Consultants have been appointed to 
manage a parallel process of developing an outline planning application for 
the majority of the Stone Lodge site coupled with a full planning application 
for the rugby club site. This has proved to be another highly complex piece 
of work, but a hybrid application for the full and outline elements is due to be 
submitted in late 2017. Reptile relocation and site clearance work has been 
undertaken on the rugby site to enable the archaeological investigations to 
commence as soon as possible, due to the sensitivity of the site in 
archaeological terms. Detailed design of the rugby club is under way.

Negotiations for the school site have been protracted with the Education 
Funding Authority, but initial Heads of Terms have been received and will be 
subject to further consideration. 

Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements – The  
Council has commissioned consultants to support the development of the 
full business case to secure the South East Local Enterprise Partnership 
funding, produce a costed programme of works that facilitate travel 
movements into and around Dartford Town Centre; and produce a detailed 
public realm design for Market Street. The scheme will be subject to a future 
Cabinet report.

Wayfinding - The second phase of works is now complete with new 
monoliths and fingerposts in Central Park, east and north Dartford. The 
scheme will be fully financed by grant funding.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Community Infrastructure Levy Expenditure – A report will be put to 
December Cabinet recommending future CIL spend.  However, at this 
stage, no projects have been identified for spending in the current financial 
year. Remaining monies will be retained for future projects. 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) – Expenditure at the end of the first half of 
the financial year was £98,085.  Expenditure for the seconded Occupational 
Therapist and for the Health & Housing Co-ordinator yet to be charged is 
£23,500 and £14,000 respectively.  There are currently 12 cases approved 
and anticipated expenditure on these is £117,000, 15 cases at pre-approval 
stage and estimated costs for these could be in the region of £143,000 and 
21 new cases where future expenditure cannot yet be estimated. 

The number of enquiries on DFGs is up 41% from this time last year and the 
Council has been promoting DFGs via a news article, website and a new 
leaflet which will be circulated to appropriate service providers including 
local pharmacies.    

Total expenditure is anticipated to be in the region of the budget but this is 
dependent on assessments of new cases being completed in time for the 
works to be carried out in the current financial year. 

3.5 Resources

Usable receipts brought forward into 2017/18 totalled £9.24m of which 
£4.49m are unrestricted receipts that can be used for any capital scheme, 
£0.024m are restricted to schemes delivering affordable housing or 
regeneration objectives, and £4.724m are restricted to the provision of new 
social housing (141 receipts). The 141 receipts must be used on the 
provision of new social housing, within three years of the receipt, and 
match-funded in the ratio of 30:70 by other funding. 

Capital receipts of £1.515m had been received by the end of September, 
arising from the Discounted Sales Scheme at The Bridge.

To date, 12 Right to Buy sales have completed, giving rise to a capital 
receipt of £1.579m. Of this: £1.012m is retained as part of the “one for one” 
new build agreement with the Department for Communities and Local 
Government, £363,000 is retained as a general capital receipt and £205,000 
is required to be paid over to government as part of the pooling 
arrangements. 

At this stage, it is reasonable to assume at least another £500,000 of 
general capital receipts will be received in the year. This is reflected in 
Appendix B

Grants and contributions totalling just under £0.740m are expected to be 
available to fund capital expenditure during 2017/18 assuming full spend on 
the relevant schemes. 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

If the general fund capital programme was spent in full, additional funding of 
£640,000 would be required. However, given that there is slippage on the 
Acacia project of £2.5m, it is expected that all the 2017/18 expenditure can 
be funded within existing resources. 

The Council can also fund capital expenditure via borrowing or by making 
contributions from revenue or reserves. Capital expenditure will not be 
committed prior to the identification of the resources to fund it.

4 Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The capital programme covers many individual projects and will contribute to 
meeting many of the objectives in the Corporate Plan.

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As discussed in the report.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment There is a small risk of committed schemes 

needing to be curtailed due to lack of capital 
finance; this risk is mitigated by regular and 
sound budget monitoring and reporting. 

6 Appendices

Appendix A - Capital Budget - Planned Expenditure & Resources - Housing 
Revenue Account Projects 2017/18

Appendix B - Capital Budget - Planned Expenditure & Resources – General 
Fund Projects 2017/18.

Appendix C – Capital Prudential Indicators

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File
 Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Sams
01322 343148

Financial Services
Internal Services

N/A





APPENDIX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET & RESOURCES

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 2017/2018
CURRENT EXPENDITURE
BUDGET TO DATE
2017/2018 2017/2018

£'000s £'000s

COUNCIL HOUSING PROJECTS

Disabled Adaptations 250 37

Decent Homes Works:

Central Heating Renewals 750 256

Rewiring 1,000 491

Asbestos Removal 75 64

Rising Main Replacement 25 0

Door Replacements 25 37

Kitchen and Bathrooms 1,115 543

External Wall Rendering 575 0

Door Entry Systems 35 0

Fascia /Soffit Replacements 185 241

Roof Renewal 1,250 726

Roof Tanks/Water Mains Supply 50 0

Communal Areas 1,572 579

External Chimneys 100 0

Retrofix Programme 75 14

Lift Replacement 50 0

Major Repairs 75 44

Other Projects:
New Homes 5,610 1,391

SUB TOTAL : COUNCIL HOUSING  PROJECTS 12,817 4,423

Resources

Brought
Forward

 Additions
in Year

Used to Fund
Capital

Expenditure
Carried
forward

Usable Receipts (restricted) 24 0 (24) 0

1-4-1 Receipts 4,724 1,500 (1,683) 4,541

Major Repairs Reserve 0 2,400 (2,400) 0

Revenue Contribution 0 8,710 (8,710) 0
4,748 12,610 (12,817) 4,541



APPENDIX B

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - BUDGET & RESOURCES
GENERAL FUND 2017/2018

CURRENT EXPENDITURE
BUDGET TO DATE
2017/2018 2017/2018

£'000s £'000s

Acacia Hall - property improvements 4,446 67
IT Equipment 119 39
The Orchard Theatre 50 41
Other Corporate Properties 30 0
Town Centre Heritage Scheme 200 0
Cricket Pavilion 60 26
Central Park 50 0
Green Deal Communities Funding 21 9
Stone Lodge New Leisure Facilities 1,500 89
Stone Lodge 60 13
Columbaria 40 0
Dartford Town Centre Transport and Public Realm Improvements 100 3
Fairfield Improvement Works 333 0
Civic Centre Refurbishment:
  Replacement Heating/Lighting/Air Cooling 460 21
  Safety Works 100 3
  Door/Window Replacement 75 1
  Other Works 43 0
Community Infrastructure Levy Expenditure 2,000 0
Wayfinding 0 31

Housing projects:
Disabled Facilities Grants 544 98
Private Sector Renewal 19 0

SUB TOTAL : GENERAL FUND PROJECTS 10,250 441

Resources

Brought
Forward Additions in Year

Used to Fund
Capital

Expenditure
Carried
forward

Usable Receipts 4,492 2,378 (6,870) 0
Grants & Contributions 348 600 (740) 208
Community Infrastructure Levy 2,386 1,500 (2,000) 1,886
Potential Capital Receipts, Revenue,
Reserves or Borrowing 0 640 (640) 0

7,226 5,118 (10,250) 2,094



Appendix C

1

PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2017/18

Prudential Indicators 2017/18

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Authority to have regard to the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when determining how much 
money it can afford to borrow. The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, 
within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management decisions are 
taken in accordance with good professional practice. To demonstrate that the 
Authority has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out the following 
indicators that must be set and monitored each year.

Estimates of Capital Expenditure: The Authority’s planned capital expenditure and 
financing may be summarised as follows:

Capital Expenditure and 
Financing

2017/18 
Estimate

£m

2018/19 
Estimate

£m

2019/20 
Estimate

£m

General Fund 8.006 3.221 1.130

HRA 12.210 10.216 9.545

Total Expenditure 20.216 13.437 10.675

Capital Receipts 8.638 3.808 1.613

Government Grants 1.051 0.498 0.400

Reserves 0 0 0

Revenue 10.527 9.131 8.661

Borrowing 0 0 0

Leasing and PFI 0 0 0

Total Financing 20.216 13.437 10.675

The figure above are a representation of the current budget. Given project updates in 
the report, it is likely that some general fund spend may slip until 2018/19 which will 
also affect financing from capital receipts.



Appendix C

2

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement: The Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) measures the Authority’s underlying need to borrow for a capital 
purpose. 

Capital Financing 
Requirement

31.03.18 
Estimate

£m

31.03.19 
Estimate

£m

31.03.20 
Estimate

£m

General Fund 3.831 3.831 3.831

HRA 57.613 53.170 48.727

Total CFR 61.444 57.001 52.558

The CFR is forecast to fall by £13.3m over the next three years as capital 
expenditure financed by debt is outweighed by resources put aside for debt 
repayment.

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to ensure that over 
the medium term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the Authority should ensure 
that debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of capital financing 
requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital 
financing requirement for the current and next two financial years. This is a key 
indicator of prudence.

Debt
31.03.18 
Estimate

£m

31.03.19 
Estimate

£m

31.03.20 
Estimate

£m

Borrowing 60.292 55.849 51.405

Finance leases 0 0 0

PFI liabilities 0 0 0

Total Debt 60.292 55.849 51.405

Total debt is expected to remain below the CFR during the forecast period.  



Appendix C

3

Operational Boundary for External Debt: The operational boundary is based on 
the Authority’s estimate of most likely (i.e. prudent but not worst case) scenario for 
external debt. It links directly to the Authority’s estimates of capital expenditure, the 
capital financing requirement and cash flow requirements, and is a key management 
tool for in-year monitoring.  Other long-term liabilities comprise finance leases, 
Private Finance Initiative and other liabilities that are not borrowing but form part of 
the Authority’s debt. The level set includes an allowance for the possibility of 
significant payments due to successful business rate appeals.

Operational Boundary
2017/18 
Estimate

£m

2018/19 
Estimate

£m

2019/20 
Estimate

£m

Borrowing 100 100 100

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0

Total Debt 100 100 100

Authorised Limit for External Debt: The authorised limit is the affordable 
borrowing limit determined in compliance with the Local Government Act 2003.  It is 
the maximum amount of debt that the Authority can legally owe.  The authorised limit 
provides headroom over and above the operational boundary for unusual cash 
movements.

Authorised Limit
2017/18 
Estimate

£m

2018/19 
Estimate

£m

2019/20 
Estimate

£m

Borrowing 120 120 120

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0

Total Debt 120 120 120

Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream: This is an indicator of 
affordability and highlights the revenue implications of existing and proposed capital 
expenditure by identifying the proportion of the revenue budget required to meet 
financing costs, net of investment income.

Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream

2017/18 
Estimate

%

2018/19 
Estimate

%

2019/20 
Estimate

%

General Fund -6.43 -6.57 -7.54

HRA 8.01 7.56 7.12

The General Fund ratio is negative because revenues exceed financing costs. 



Appendix C

4

Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions: This is an indicator of 
affordability that shows the impact of capital investment decisions on Council Tax 
and housing rent levels. The incremental impact is the difference between the total 
revenue budget requirement of the current approved capital programme and the 
revenue budget requirement arising from changes in the capital programme. As 
there are no current proposals in this report this indicator is not relevant for 
monitoring purposes.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2017/2018

1. Summary

1.1    To inform Cabinet of the investment performance of the Council’s internally and 
externally managed funds to 30 September 2017.

1.2 To update the Treasury Indicators for the six months to 30 September 2017.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1     That Cabinet notes the investment performance of the Council’s funds. 

2.2     That Cabinet notes the half-year position of the Council’s Treasury Indicators.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management Code recommends that members are informed of 
Treasury Management activities at least twice a year. This report 
therefore ensures this authority is embracing Best Practice in 
accordance with CIPFA’s recommendations. 

3.2. The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2017/2018 was 
approved by GAC on 27 February 2017.

3.3. The Council has borrowed and invested substantial sums of money 
and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested 
funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  This report 
covers treasury activity and the associated monitoring and control of 
risk.

3.4. The Council became indebted on 28 March 2012 following the 
introduction of the Housing Self Financing regime. The Council 
originally borrowed £86.953m from the PWLB; in total seven loans 
were borrowed at an average weighted interest rate of 2.4% and 
average weighted duration of 19.62 years. The debt stands at 
£62.514m as at 30 September 2017. The details of the individual loans 
can be found at paragraph 3.12.

3.5. As at 30 September, the Council’s investments totalled £103.85m, 
£75.20m of which is managed by external fund managers.  The 
internally invested funds comprised £9m invested overnight in deposit 
accounts and £19.65m invested overnight in money market funds.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

3.6. Economic Background and Outlook

This has been provided by the Council’s treasury advisers, Arlingclose.

Economic backdrop:  Commodity prices fluctuated in the last 6 
months with oil falling to $45 a barrel before climbing back up to $58 a 
barrel.  UK consumer price inflation (CPI) rose to 2.9% in August, its 
highest since June 2013 as the fall in the value of sterling continued to 
feed through into higher import prices.  The new inflation measure 
CIPH, which includes owner occupiers’ housing costs, was at 2.7%.

The unemployment rate fell to 4.3%, its lowest since May 1975, but the 
squeeze on consumers intensified as average earnings grew at 2.5%, 
below the rate of inflation.  Economic activity expanded at a much 
slower pace as evidenced by Q1 and Q2 GDP growth of 0.2% and 
0.3% respectively.  With the dominant services sector accounting for 
79% of GDP, the strength of consumer spending remains vital to 
growth, but with household savings falling and real wage growth 
negative, there are concerns that these will be a constraint on 
economic activity in the second half of 2017.

The Bank of England kept the bank rate at 0.25% in the first half of this 
year, but implied at their meeting in September that a rise in the Bank 
Rate may be due in “the coming months”.  

Geopolitical tensions escalated in August as the US and North Korea 
exchanged escalating verbal threats over reports about enhancements 
in North Korea’s missile programme.  The provocation from both sides 
helped to wipe off nearly $1 trillion from global equity markets but 
benefitted safe haven assets such as gold, the US dollar and the 
Japanese yen.  

The unscheduled general election called in June resulted in a minority 
Conservative government in coalition with the Democratic Unionist 
Party.  This clearly results in an enhanced level of political uncertainty.  
The reactions from the market on the UK election’s outcome was fairly 
muted, business confidence now hinges on the progress (or not) on 
Brexit negotiations, the ultimate ‘divorce-bill’ for the exit and whether 
new trade treaties and customs arrangements are successfully 
concluded to the UK’s benefit.   

In the face of a struggling economy and Brexit-related uncertainty, 
Arlingclose expects the Bank of England to take only a very measured 
approach to any monetary policy tightening, any increase will be 
gradual and limited as the interest rate backdrop will have to provide 
substantial support to the UK economy throughout the Brexit transition.

Financial markets: Gilt yields displayed significant volatility over the 
six-month period with the appearing changes in sentiment in the Bank 
of England’s outlook for interest rates, the push-pull from expectations 
of tapering of Quantitative Easing (QE) in the US and Europe and from 
geo-political tensions, which also had an impact.  



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

The FTSE 100 nevertheless powered away reaching a record high of 
7548 in May but dropped back to 7377 at the end of September.  
Money market rates have remained low.

Credit background:  UK bank credit default swaps continued their 
downward trend, reaching three year lows by the end of June.  Bank 
share prices have not moved in any particular pattern.

There were a few credit rating changes during the last six months.  The 
significant change was the downgrade by Moody’s to the UK sovereign 
rating in September from Aa1 to Aa2 which resulted in subsequent 
downgrades to sub-sovereign entities including Local Authorities.  
Standard Chartered Bank’s long term rating was downgraded on the 
expectation that the bank’s profitability will be lower following 
management’s efforts to de-risk their balance sheet.  The agency also 
affirmed Royal Bank of Scotland and NatWest’s long-term rating, 
placed Lloyds Bank’s rating on review for upgrade, and revised the 
outlook of Santander UK plc, Nationwide and Coventry Building 
Societies from negative to stable.  The agency downgraded long-term 
ratings of the major Canadian banks on the expectation of a more 
challenging operating environment and the ratings of the large 
Australian banks on its view of the rising risks from their exposure to 
the Australian housing market and the elevated proportion of lending to 
residential property investors.

S&P also revised Nordea Bank’s outlook to stable from negative, whilst 
affirming their long-term rating at AA-.

Ring-fencing, which requires the larger UK banks to separate their core 
retail banking activity from the rest of their business, is expected to be 
implemented within the next year. In May, following Arlingclose’s 
advice, the Council reduced the maximum duration of unsecured 
investments with Bank of Scotland, HSBC Bank and Lloyds Bank from 
13 months to 6 months as until banks’ new structures are finally 
determined and published, the different credit risks of the ‘retail’ and 
‘investment’ banks cannot be known for certain.

The new EU regulations for Money Market Funds were finally approved 
and published in July and existing funds will have to be compliant by no 
later than 21st January 2019.  The key features include Low Volatility 
NAV (LVNAV) Money Market Funds which will be permitted to maintain 
a constant dealing NAV, providing they meet strict new criteria and 
minimum liquidity requirements.  MMFs will not be prohibited from 
having an external fund rating (as had been suggested in draft 
regulations).  Arlingclose expects most of the short-term MMFs it 
recommends to convert to the LVNAV structure and awaits 
confirmation from each fund. 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

3.7 Regulatory Updates

MiFID II
Local authorities are currently treated by regulated financial services 
firms as professional clients who can “opt down” to be treated as retail 
clients instead.  But from 3rd January 2018, as a result of the second 
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MiFID II), local authorities 
will be treated as retail clients who can “opt-up” to be professional 
clients, providing that they meet certain criteria.  Regulated financial 
services firms include banks, brokers, advisers, fund managers and 
custodians, but only where they are selling, arranging, advising or 
managing designated investments.

In order to opt up to professional, the authority must have an 
investment balance of at least £10 million and that the one or more 
person(s) authorised to make investment decisions on behalf of the 
authority must have at least one year’s relevant professional 
experience. In addition, the firm must assess that those persons have 
the expertise, experience and knowledge to make investment decisions 
and understand the risks involved.  

The main additional protection for retail clients is a duty on the firm to 
ensure that the investment is “suitable” for the client. However, local 
authorities are not protected by the Financial Services Compensation 
Scheme nor are they eligible to complain to the Financial Ombudsman 
Service whether they are retail or professional clients.  It is also likely 
that retail clients will face an increased cost and potentially restricted 
access to certain products including money market funds, pooled 
funds, treasury bills, bonds, shares and to financial advice. The Council 
has declined to opt down to retail client status in the past as the costs 
were thought to outweigh the benefits.

The Council meets the conditions to opt up to professional status and 
intends to do so in order to maintain their current MiFID status.

CIPFA Consultation on Prudential and Treasury Management 
Codes

In February 2017 CIPFA canvassed views on the relevance, adoption 
and practical application of the Treasury Management and Prudential 
Codes and after reviewing responses launched a further consultation 
on changes to the codes in August with a deadline for responses of 
30th September 2017.  The Council submitted a response to this 
consultation.

The proposed changes to the Prudential Code include the production 
of a new high-level Capital Strategy report to full council which will 
cover the basics of the capital programme and treasury management. 
The prudential indicators for capital expenditure and the authorised 
borrowing limit would be included in this report but other indicators may 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

be delegated to another committee. There are plans to drop certain 
prudential indicators, however local indicators are recommended for 
ring fenced funds (including the HRA) and for group accounts.  

Proposed changes to the Treasury Management Code include the 
potential for non-treasury investments such as commercial investments 
in properties in the definition of “investments” as well as loans made or 
shares brought for service purposes. Another proposed change is the 
inclusion of financial guarantees as instruments requiring risk 
management and addressed within the Treasury Management 
Strategy. Approval of the technical detail of the Treasury Management 
Strategy may be delegated to a committee rather than needing 
approval of full Council. There are also plans to drop or alter some of 
the current treasury management indicators. 

CIPFA intends to publish the two revised Codes towards the end of 
2017 for implementation in 2018/19, although CIPFA plans to put 
transitional arrangements in place for reports that are required to be 
approved before the start of the 2018/19 financial year. The 
Department of Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and 
CIPFA wish to have a more rigorous framework in place for the 
treatment of commercial investments as soon as is practical.  It is 
understood that DCLG will be revising its Investment Guidance (and its 
MRP guidance) for local authorities in England; however there have 
been no discussions with the devolved administrations yet.
 

3.8 Investment Activity

In House Investments

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income 
received payable to others (e.g. Council tax payable to major 
preceptors), as well as income in advance of expenditure plus 
balances and reserves held.  During the first half of 2017/18 the 
Council’s investment balances ranged between £97m and £114.6m 
(this includes both internally managed investments and externally 
managed pooled funds).

Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to 
invest its funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and 
liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or 
yield.  The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an 
appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of 
incurring losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably low 
investment income.

In furtherance of these objectives, and given the increasing risk and 
falling returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, the 
Council has moved away from unsecured bank deposits, keeping in-
house investments extremely liquid in call-accounts and money market 
funds and further investing in externally managed pooled funds.  



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

The Council has opened an additional money market fund – the 
Amundi Money Market Fund – Short term (GBP) fund.  The Council 
now has a total of 7 money market funds it invests in on a daily basis.

Table 1 below shows the change in investments since the start of this 
financial year, whilst the second table details each in house investment 
and shows its maturity date.

Table 1 – Change in investments 

Balance on 
31/03/2017

£m

Balance on 
30/09/2017  

£m

Increase/
Decrease in 
Investments

£m

Comments 

Overnight Investments 11.23 28.65 17.42
Short Term Investments 4.50 0.00 (4.50)
Total in-house funds 
invested

15.73 28.65 12.92

Investments in Pooled 
Funds

75.14 75.20 0.06 £0.04m of the 
increase was 
from additional 
investment. 
£0.02m is the 
unrealised gain.

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 90.87 103.85 13.06

Table 2 – In-house investments

Details of in house investments
Start Date Institution Investment

£m
Maturity 
Date

Interest 
Rate

Overnight Investments
Santander UK plc 5.00 n/a 0.25% 
Barclays Bank plc  1.00 n/a 0.20%
Svenska Handlesbanken 3.00 n/a 0.15%
Insight (MMF) 5.00 n/a 0.17%
Amundi (MMF) 5.00 n/a 0.32%
Standard Life (MMF) 5.00 n/a 0.20%
Invesco (MMF) 4.65 n/a 0.20%

Sub total: Overnight Investments 28.65

Total in-house funds invested 28.65

Currently all internally managed investments are liquid, in that there is 
no period of notice required, the only restriction is there are specified 
cut off times during the day after which the funds will not be received 
until the next working day. The interest rate quoted for the Money 
Market Funds (MMF) are for the 30th September 2017, rates for MMF 
are quoted daily after the close of business.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

The Council’s treasury advisers (Arlingclose) monitor counterparty 
credit quality constantly and forward details of all changes immediately. 
Arlingclose also provide monthly comprehensive updates as to 
counterparty credit but it always remains the responsibility of the 
Council to decide whether or not to use their advice. As part of his 
delegated authority, the Managing Director decides whether to include 
or exclude an institution and whether to restrict the amount or 
timescale of an investment to an institution.  During the first 6 months 
of 2017/18, the Council has added the Amundi money market fund to 
its approved list of money market funds.  

All investments since 31st March 2017 complied with the Council’s 
strategy approved by Council on 27th February 2017.  There have been 
no breaches.  Compliance with specific investment limits is 
demonstrated in table 3 below:

Table 3 – Investment Limits

H1
Maximum

30.9.17
Actual

2017/18
Limit

Complied

Any single organisation, except UK Government 
and externally managed pooled funds £5M £5M £7.5M 

Any group of funds under the same management £5M £5M £7.5M 

Investments held in a broker’s nominee account £4.5M £0M £25M 

Foreign countries £3M £3M £10M 

Registered Providers £0M £0M £5M 

Unsecured investments with Building Societies £0M £0M £5M 

Loans to unrated corporates £0M £0M £5M 

Money Market Funds £30.3 £19.7 £40M 

Non-specified investments £75.8M £75.2M £115M 

3.9 Externally Managed Funds

The total value of the externally managed funds was £75.20m as at 
30th September 2017, this represents an unrealised capital gain of 
£0.02m since 31st March 2017.  

The Council has investments in cash plus, bond, equity income, multi-
asset and property funds which allow the Council to diversify into asset 
classes other than cash without the need to manage and own the 
underlying investments.  The funds which are operated on a variable 
net asset value (VNAV) basis offer diversification of investment risk, 
coupled with the service of a professional fund manager; they also offer 
enhanced returns over the longer term but are more volatile in the short 
term.  



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

The Council, in consultation with its advisors Arlingclose, closely 
monitor the performance of each of the funds whilst also ensuring a 
balance is maintained between the types of funds invested in.  The 
Council decided to withdraw its investment in the Aberdeen Absolute 
Return Bond Fund in July 2017 as the performance of this fund had not 
been meeting Council objectives.  The Council realised a loss of 
£44,215 at disposal.

With the returned funds from the Aberdeen investment the Council 
invested a further £1M in the Columbia Threadneedle UK Short Dated 
Corporate Bond Fund and a further £1M in the M&G UK Income 
Distribution Fund.

The Council also switched its investment from the Investec Short Dated 
Bond Fund into the Investec Cautious Managed Fund.  At the point of 
switch, the Council realised a gain of £91,269.   

The value of the external funds as at 30th September 2017 and the 
change in value since 31st March 2017 is shown in Appendix A.  

3.10 Borrowing

The Council borrowed £86.95m to fund the Housing Self Financing 
settlement on 28th March 2012. At the time of borrowing, it was 
possible to set the instalment dates to suit the Council’s cash flow. 1st 
February and 1st August were chosen. The table below shows the 
current position of outstanding debt of £62.51m.

Table 4 – Borrowing 

Loan 
Type

Maturity 
Date

Years 
to 

Maturity

Principal 
Borrowed 
(28/03/12)

£m

Principal 
Outstanding 

(30/09/16)
 £m

Interest 
Rate %

Semi-
annual 

repayment
£m

Maturity 01/02/2022
          

4.34              5.00            5.00 2.40%

EIP 01/02/2039     21.35          18.00           14.33 2.90% 0.33

EIP 01/02/2026 8.35                  9.00            5.46 1.82% 0.32

EIP 01/02/2022
       

4.34              9.00            4.05 1.31% 0.45

EIP 01/02/2032
     

14.35            26.95           19.54 2.44% 0.68

EIP 01/02/2037
     

19.35              9.00            7.02 2.79% 0.18

EIP 01/02/2031
     

13.35            10.00            7.11 2.35% 0.26

  15.32                86.95 62.51 2.41% 2.22

There has been no overnight/short term borrowing since 1st April 2017.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Should it be required to borrow new loans, the Council has been 
eligible to apply for new loans from the Public Works Loans Board 
(PWLB) at the PWLB Certainty Rate (0.2% below the PWLB standard 
rate).   This eligibility is for a 12 month period from 1st November 2016.  

A regular review will take place in respect of redemptions for each loan.  
The Council will consider the merits of early redemption if gilt yields 
and, consequently PWLB redemption rates, rise to a level which could 
lead to a financial advantage in respect of early redemption of the 
loans. Any benefits of early redemption will be weighed against the 
ongoing requirements of the HRA business plan and its future funding 
needs. 

3.11 Projected Outturn for 2017/2018

With security of capital our primary objective, the internal investments 
have achieved an average interest rate of 0.21% for the financial year 
to date.  As at 30th September 2017 £0.026m of interest had been 
received from internal fund investments.  

The Council has so far this year received income of £0.549m from the 
externally managed pooled funds, income distribution share class 
funds.  There is another £0.251m of dividends due which have been 
declared but not yet received.  Further dividend payments are still 
expected.
  
Together with the realised gain of £0.091m from the switch of the 
Investec fund, and the loss of £0.044m from the sale of the Aberdeen 
fund, the total income earnt from investments is £0.622m. 

The Council is likely to exceed the budget set of £0.650M.

3.12 Treasury Indicators

The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Treasury 
Indicators for 2017/18, which were set in the budget report to the 
General Assembly of the Council on 27 February 2017 as part of the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement. Details are as 
follows:

Security:  The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its 
exposure to credit risk by monitoring the value weighted average credit 
score of its investment portfolio.  This is calculated by applying a score 
to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2 etc.) and taking the arithmetic 
average, weighted by the size of each investment.  Unrated 
investments are assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

30.9.17 
Actual

2017/18 
Target Complied

Portfolio average credit rating A+ A 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Liquidity:  The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its 
exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring the amount of cash available to 
meet unexpected payments within a rolling one month period, without 
additional borrowing.

Target
Total cash available 
within 1 month £5m

Since the1st April 2017 the Council had at least £5m available within 
one month at all times.

Interest Rate Exposures:  This indicator is set to control the 
Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk.  It represents the maximum 
level (as a percentage) of the Council’s investment and borrowing that 
will be invested at either a fixed or variable rate of interest.  The upper 
limit for variable rate exposure has been set to ensure that the Council 
is not exposed to interest rate rises which could adversely impact on 
the revenue budget.  The limit allows for the use of variable rate 
borrowing to offset exposure to changes in short-term rates of 
investments.

Approved Limits for 2017/18
Upper Limit for Fixed 
Interest Rate Exposure 100%

Compliance with Limits: 

Upper Limit for Variable 
Interest Rate Exposure 100%

Compliance with Limits: 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
This indicator is to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk.  
The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of fixed rate 
borrowing together with the actual fixed rate borrowing as at 30th 
September are shown below:

Maturity structure of 
fixed rate borrowing

Lower 
Limit for 
2017/18 

%

Upper 
Limit for 
2017/18 

%

Actual 
Maturity % 

as at
30/09/2017

Actual Fixed 
Rate 

Borrowing at 
30/09/2017

£m

Complied

under 12 months 0% 25% 7.10% 4.44 

12 months and within 
24 months 0% 25% 7.10% 4.44 

24 months and within 5 
years 0% 50% 28.62% 17.88 

5 years and within 10 
years 0% 40% 26.80% 16.75 



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days
The purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the 
risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments.  
The limits on long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond 
the period end are as follows:  

Approved upper limit of 
principal invested 
beyond 364 days

30/09/17
Actual

Internally Managed Funds £20m £0
Externally Managed 
Funds £115m £75.20m

3.13 Economic Background and Outlook

This has been provided by the Council’s treasury advisers, Arlingclose 
and can be found at appendix A.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Council Performing Strongly Theme PS1 – Deliver high quality 
services, offering value for money and demonstrating a culture of 
continuous improvement.

Regular monitoring and scrutiny of the Council’s financial position, and, 
in particular its treasury management function is key to maintaining a 
high quality service and value for money.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As detailed in the report

Legal Implications There are none as a result of this report

Staffing Implications There are none as a result of this report

Administrative Implications There are none as a result of this report

Risk Assessment Treasury operations are tightly regulated and 
the Council’s external advisors consulted 
regularly, thus minimising the risk to the 
Council. A prudent approach is taken in 
relation to investment activity with priority 
being given to security and liquidity over yield.

10 years and within 20 
years 0% 50% 28.78% 17.99 

20 years and above 0% 20% 1.60% 1.00 

Total  100.00% 62.51



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – External Pooled Fund Investments as at 30/09/2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Banking 2017/2018 Catherine Bailey
(01322) 343312

Financial 
Services,
Internal 
Services

N/A



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2017/2018 Appendix A 

Table 1 - External Pooled Funds as at 30th September 2017

Fund Type Value as at 
31/03/2017

£’000’s

New 
Investment 

£’000’s

Investments 
Sold 

£’000’s

Switch 
into 

£’000’s

Switch out 
from £’000’s

Realised 
Gain/(Loss) 

£’000’s

Market Value 
as at 

30/09/2017 
£’000’s

Change in 
Value - 

Unrealised
Gain /(Loss)  

£’000’s
Cash Plus Funds 21,106 21,081 (25)
Short Bond Funds 18,130 1,000 (4,151) 91 14,999 20
Long Dated Bond Funds 8,648 (1,956) (44) 6,731 39
Equity Income Funds 12,626 1,000 13,656 30
Multi Asset Income Funds 12,779 4,151 16,844 (86)
Property Funds 1,853 1,893 40

TOTAL 75,142 2,000 (1,956) 4,151 (4,151) 47 75,204 18





CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 38: APPOINTMENT OF A NEW CHAIRMAN AND VICE-
CHAIRMAN OF CABINET ADVISORY PANEL B AND 
APPOINTMENTS TO THE DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS 
TRUST STAKEHOLDER COUNCIL

1. Summary

1.1 To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing Order 
38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to the 
appointment of a new Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B and appointments to the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 
Stakeholder Council.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), relating to the 
appointment of a new Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B and appointments to the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 
Stakeholder Council.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Standing Order 38 concerns the delegation of urgent and routine 
matters.  Standing Order 38(2)(a) provides for the delegation to each 
member of the Management Team the authority to act in respect of any 
function of the Cabinet, a Committee, Board or Panel which in his/her 
opinion is either urgent or of a routine nature, subject however to 
members of the Management Team first consulting with the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.  
Standing Order 38(2)(b) requires that a report of the action taken, 
including a note of the circumstances which made it necessary, must 
be made to the next meeting of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or 
Panel responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of 
Reference.

3.2. Cabinet is asked to note the actions of the Managing Director, as 
specified in Appendix A, taken under delegated authority and in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, relating to the appointment of 
a new Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet Advisory Panel B and 
appointments to the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust Stakeholder 
Council.



CABINET
2 NOVEMBER 2017

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The report which relates to the appointment of a new 
Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet Advisory 
Panel B and appointments to the Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust Stakeholder Council.

Appendix B – Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters Standing 
Order 38 form.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A
MANAGING DIRECTOR

22 SEPTEMBER 2017

APPOINTMENT OF A NEW CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN OF 
CABINET ADVISORY PANEL BAND APPOINTMENTS TO THE 
DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST STAKEHOLDER 
COUNCIL

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Councillor I D Armitt has advised the Leader of the Council that he has 
resigned as the Chairman of Cabinet Advisory Panel B but wishes to 
remain as a member of the Panel. The Panel is due to meet on 30 
October before the next meeting of the Cabinet. The Leader of the Council 
has nominated the existing Vice-Chairman of the Panel, Councillor M J 
Davis, to be the new Chairman of the Panel and Councillor R S L Perfitt to 
become the new Vice- Chairman. Urgent action is being taken to make the 
appointments before the next meeting of Cabinet Advisory Panel B.

3.2. Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust has established a new Stakeholder 
Council to enhance its links with the wider community and to contribute to 
debate and decision making. The Trust has invited the Council to 
nominate up to two representatives to serve on this new Outside Body and 
it is recommended that the Council's two representatives on the NHS 
Trust, Councillors M I Peters and A D Allen should also be nominated to 
serve on the Stakeholder Council. Urgent action is being taken to make 
the appointments in time for the first meeting of the Stakeholder Council in 
late October (see letter from the NHS Trust at Appendix A).

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To support good governance to provide high quality services in support of 
the objectives contained in the Corporate Plan.

1. Summary

1.1 This report seeks agreement to the appointment of a new Chairman and Vice- 
Chairman of the Cabinet Advisory Panel B and the appointment of two 
representatives to serve on a new Outside Body, the Dartford and Gravesham 
NHS Trust Stakeholder Council. The appointments need to be made before the 
next Cabinet meeting because CAP B and the Stakeholder Trust are due to 
meet before the Cabinet meets.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Councillor M J Davis and Councillor R S L Perfitt be appointed 
respectively as the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet Advisory Panel B 
with immediate effect for the remainder of the 2017-18 Municipal Year.

2.2 That Councillors A D Allen and M I Peters be appointed as the Council's 
representatives to serve on the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 
Stakeholder Council for the remainder of the 2017-18 Municipal Year.



APPENDIX A
MANAGING DIRECTOR

22 SEPTEMBER 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Letter from the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust dated 9 
September 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Letter from the Dartford 
and Gravesham NHS 
Trust dated 9/9/17

Alan Twyman 
Member Services 
Manager
(01322) 343430

Member Services 
(Internal Services)

N/A







APPENDIX B












	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 September 2017
	7 Land at Stone Lodge - Disposal of Land for 8 Form Entry Secondary School and Update on Development Proposals
	Stone Lodge APPENDIX B

	8 Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Contract
	9 Response to Government Consultation: "Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Places"
	Homes Consultation Response APPENDIX A

	10 Acceptance of Tender - Estate Cleaning and Window Cleaning Contract
	11 100% Business Rates Retention Pilot 2018/19
	12 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2017/18
	Revenue Budget Monitoring APPENDIX A

	13 Capital Budget Monitoring 2017/2018
	Capital Monitoring APPENDICES A and B
	Capital Monitoring APPENDIX C

	14 Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2017/2018
	Treasury Management Mid-Year APPENDIX A

	15 Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: Appointment of a New Chairman and Vice-Chairman of Cabinet Advisory Panel B and Appointments to the Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust Stakeholder Council
	SO38 Council Appointments APPENDIX A PART 1
	SO38 Council Appointments APPENDIX A PART 2
	SO38 Council Appointments APPENDIX B

	A Land at Stone Lodge - Disposal of Land for 8 Form Entry Secondary School and Update on Development Proposals - Exempt Appendix A<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)
	B Acceptance of Tender - Estate Cleaning and Window Cleaning Contract - Exempt Appendix A<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)



